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Spark Infrastructure  

Appendix 4E 

Results for Announcement to the Market 

for the Financial Year ended 31 December 2017 
 

 
1. Company Details 
 

Name of entity: 

SPARK INFRASTRUCTURE comprises 
Spark Infrastructure Trust (“Spark Trust”) and its controlled entities. 

 
 
2. Details of the reporting year 
 

Current Year: 1 January 2017 – 31 December 2017 
 
Previous Year: 1 January 2016 – 31 December 2016 

 
 
3. Results for Announcement to the Market 
 
Commentary on the operations and results for the year is provided in the Directors’ Report. 
 

  
Percentage 

Change  
2017 

A$’000 
 2016 

A$’000 

Income and Profit Summary       
       

Total Income from Investments in Associates  
 

Up 19.5%  283,138  236,913 

Total Income  
 

Up 16.8%  284,999 
 

243,915 

Profit before Loan Note Interest and Income Tax 
 

Up 17.7%  265,804  225,816 

Net Profit Attributable to the Stapled Security Holders  
 

Up 9.3%  88,641  81,083 

Operating Cash Flow (including repayment of shareholder loans from 

Victoria Power Networks) 

 

Down 12.5%  267,544 
 

305,624 

       

Earnings per Stapled Security before Loan Note Interest and Income 

Tax 

 
Up 17.6%  15.80¢ 

 
13.43¢ 

Earnings per Stapled Security  
 

Up 9.3%  5.27¢  4.82¢ 

Operating Cash Flow (including repayment of shareholder loans from 

Victoria Power Networks) per Stapled Security 

 

Down 12.4%  15.91¢ 
 

18.17¢ 
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4. Net Tangible Assets per Security 
 

 
2017 
$’000 

 2016 
$’000 

Net Assets 2,076,764  2,137,284 

Loan Notes attributable to Security Holders 1,061,744  1,061,724 

Net Assets and Loan Notes attributable to Security Holders 3,138,508  3,199,008 

No. of Securities (‘000) 1,682,011  1,682,011 

Net Tangible Assets per Security ($) $1.87  $1.90 

 
 

5. Details of Associates 
 

Associate Ownership Interest Contribution to Net Profit 

 
2017 

(%) 
2016 

(%) 
2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Equity accounted income: 

Victoria Power Networks 

 
49.00% 

 
49.00% 

 
57,593 

 
43,774 

SA Power Networks 49.00% 49.00% 150,137 98,171 

NSW Electricity Networks Assets 

Holdings Trust 

15.01% 15.01% (6,381) (4,404) 

NSW Electricity Networks Operations 

Holdings Trust 

15.01% 15.01% (901) 7,749 

Sub-total   200,448 145,290 

Interest income:     

Victoria Power Networks   70,100 78,125 

NSW Electricity Networks Operations 

Holdings Trust 

  12,590 13,498 

Total   283,138 236,913 

 
 

6. Entities Gained/Lost Control during the Period 
 

 Not Applicable 
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7. Distributions 

2017  2016 

  

Cents 
per 

Security 

 
Total 

 $’000  

Cents  
per 

Security 
Total 

 $’000 
 

Distribution Paid: 
     

 Interim distribution in respect of year ended 31 December 2017 paid on 15 
September 2017 (2016: 15 September 2016): 

 
 

 
   

 
Interest on Loan Notes 3.50 58,870  3.50 58,870 

 
Capital Distribution 4.125 69,383  3.75 63,075 

 

 7.625 128,253  7.25 121,945 

 
Distribution Payable/Proposed: 

  
 

  

 Final distribution in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 payable 
on 15 March 2018 (2016: 15 March 2017): 

  
 

  

 
Interest on Loan Notes  3.55 59,711  3.55 59,711 

 
Capital Distribution 4.075 68,542  3.70 62,234 

 

 7.625 128,253  7.25 121,945 

 Total paid and payable 15.25 256,506  14.50 243,890 

The above distributions are unfranked. 

The record date for determining entitlements to the distribution is 6 March 2018.                           

 

              

 

                      

8. Details of Distribution Reinvestment Plan  
 

The DRP will not be in operation for the March 2018 distribution. 

9.Foreign Entities  
 

Not Applicable. 





 

                                         
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

  Spark Infrastructure  

  Annual report for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Spark Infrastructure represents Spark Infrastructure Trust and its consolidated entities. Spark Infrastructure RE Limited (ABN 36 114 940 984) is the 
responsible entity of Spark Infrastructure Trust. 
 
Each unit in Spark Infrastructure Trust is stapled to one Loan Note issued by Spark Infrastructure Trust. The stapled securities trade on the Australian 
Securities Exchange. 
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Directors’ Report  
 
The Directors of Spark Infrastructure RE Limited(1) present this financial report on the consolidated entity for the year ended 31 December 
2017.    
 
The Principal Activity of Spark Infrastructure 
 
During the reporting period, Spark Infrastructure invested in regulated electricity distribution and transmission businesses in Australia. 
 
The Nature of Securities in Spark Infrastructure 
 
Spark Infrastructure is a stapled structure comprising two elements:  

 one unit in the Trust; and 

 one Loan Note issued by Spark RE, the Responsible Entity of the Trust.  
 
The stapled elements are quoted on the ASX as if they were a single security that investors can buy and sell. 
 
Spark Infrastructure’s Board of Directors 

At the time of reporting, the Directors of the company were: 
 

Dr Douglas McTaggart, Chair 
Mr Rick Francis, Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 
Mr Andrew Fay  
Mr Greg Martin (appointed 1 January 2017) 
Ms Anne McDonald  
Ms Karen Penrose. 
 

During 2017, the following Directors retired: 
 
Dr Keith Turner on 23 May 2017 
Ms Christine McLoughlin on 15 October 2017. 
 
 
The Directors’ qualifications, experience and special responsibilities are outlined below: 
 

Dr Doug McTaggart PhD, MA(Econ), BEc(Hons), DUniv, FAICD, SF Fin  
Chair and Independent Director (since December 2015) 

Dr McTaggart is a director of the Suncorp Group and Chair of its Audit Committee, Chair of the QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute 
Council and also of Suncentral Maroochydore Pty Ltd. He is a member of the Australian National University Council. 

Dr McTaggart has extensive experience in financial markets, having been Chief Executive of QIC Limited (1998-2012). Prior to QIC, he was 
Under Treasurer and Under Secretary of the Queensland Department of Treasury and had a distinguished academic career. He has served 
in various expert advisory roles to government and on several industry representative bodies. 

Dr McTaggart is a member of the Remuneration Committee(2). 

Dr McTaggart has held the following directorships of other Australian listed entities within the last three years: 
  

Listed Entity  Period directorship held 

 Suncorp Group Limited 2012 to present 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
(1) In this report, Spark Infrastructure RE Limited is referred to as “Spark RE” or “Company”.  Spark RE is the responsible entity of Spark Infrastructure Trust, referred to as 

“Trust”.  The Trust and its consolidated entities are referred to as “Spark Infrastructure” or “Group”. 
(2) The Board resolved to resume nomination responsibilities from the Nomination and Remuneration Committee in December 2017.  The Charters for the Board and 

Remuneration Committee have been amended accordingly. 
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Mr Richard (Rick) Francis BCom, MBA, CA, GAICD 
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer (since May 2012)  

Rick Francis commenced as Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of Spark Infrastructure in 2012. He originally joined Spark 
Infrastructure in 2009 as the Chief Financial Officer and served in that role for three and a half years prior to his appointment as Managing 
Director. 

Rick has 20 years’ experience in the Australian energy and energy infrastructure industries. Prior to Spark Infrastructure, he was employed 
by the ASX-listed gas transmission and energy infrastructure business APA Group, where he was Chief Financial Officer for four years, and 
by Origin Energy Limited for over eight years in a number of senior management roles in the corporate and operational areas. Rick is also a 
Chartered Accountant. 

Rick has been a director of SA Power Networks and Victoria Power Networks since 2009. He was appointed Chair of NSW Electricity 
Networks Operations (TransGrid) in December 2015 and has served as Deputy Chair since June 2016.  He also sits on a number of board 
sub-committees for Spark Infrastructure’s investments, including audit, risk management, regulatory, HS&E and remuneration committees.  
Rick did not hold any other Australian listed entity directorships within the last three years. 

 

Mr Andrew Fay BAgEc (Hons), AFin  
Independent Director (since March 2010) 

Mr Fay is a director of BT Investment Management Limited, J O Hambro Capital Management Holdings Limited, Gateway Lifestyle Group 
and National Cardiac Pty Limited. He was previously Chair of Tasman Lifestyle Continuum Ltd and Deutsche Managed Investments Limited. 
Mr Fay was Chair of Deutsche Asset Management (Australia) Limited and associated companies until 2010 following a 20-year career in the 
financial services sector and has served on industry representative bodies. 

Mr Fay is a director of SA Power Networks. He is Chair of the SA Power Networks Audit Committee and a member of its Risk and 
Compliance Committee and Remuneration Committee. 

Mr Fay is a member of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee. 

Mr Fay has held the following directorships of other Australian listed entities within the last three years: 

Listed Entity  

  

Period directorship held 

 BT Investment Management Limited 2011 to present 

 Gateway Lifestyle Group  2015 to present 

  

Mr Greg Martin BEc, LLB, FAIM, MAICD 
Independent Director (since January 2017)  

Mr Martin is Chair of Iluka Resources Limited and Chair of its nominations committee, Deputy Board Chair of Western Power and Chair of 
Sydney Desalination Plant. Mr. Martin concluded his term as a member of the COAG Energy Council Energy Appointments Selection Panel 
on 19 January 2018. Mr. Martin was previously a director of Santos Limited. 

Mr Martin has over 35 years’ experience in the energy, utility and infrastructure sectors in Australia, New Zealand and internationally, having 
spent 25 years with The Australian Gas Light Company, including five years as CEO and Managing Director. After AGL, Mr. Martin was CEO 
of the infrastructure division of Challenger Financial Services Group and, subsequently, CEO and Managing Director of Murchison Metals 
Limited. 

Mr Martin is a member of the Remuneration Committee. 

Mr Martin has held the following directorships of other Australian listed entities within the last three years: 

Listed Entity  

  

Period directorship held 

 Iluka Resources Limited 
 

 Energy Developments Limited 

2013 to present 
 
2006 to 2015 

 Santos Limited 2009 to 2017 
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Ms Anne McDonald BEc, FCA, GAICD 
Independent Director (since January 2009) 

Ms McDonald is the Chair of WaterNSW, Chair of Specialty Fashion Group Limited and a director of Link Administration Holdings Ltd and St 
Vincent’s Healthcare Limited. Ms. McDonald’s previous directorships include GPT Group, Sydney Water Corporation and Westpac’s life 
insurance and general insurance businesses. 

Ms McDonald was a partner of Ernst & Young for 15 years and was a Board member of Ernst & Young Australia for 7 years. She has broad 
based business and financial experience, working with international and local companies on audit, transaction due diligence, regulatory and 
accounting requirements. 

Ms McDonald is a director of Victoria Power Networks and is Chair of Victoria Power Networks’ Audit Committee and a member of its Risk 
and Compliance Committee and Remuneration Committee. 

Ms McDonald is Chair of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee. 

Ms McDonald has held the following directorships of other Australian listed entities within the last three years: 

 Listed Entity  

  

Period directorship held 

 Specialty Fashion Group Limited 2007 to present 

 Link Administration Holdings Ltd 
 

 GPT Group 

2016 to present 
 
2006 to 2016 

  

Ms Karen Penrose BCom, CPA, FAICD 
Independent Director (since October 2014) 

Ms Penrose is a director of Bank of Queensland Limited, Vicinity Centres, AWE Limited and Future Generation Global Investment Company 
Limited (pro bono). Ms Penrose was formerly a director of UrbanGrowth NSW and Silver Chef Limited. 

Ms Penrose has extensive experience in business, finance and investment banking in the banking and corporate sectors and is an 
experienced audit chair and member of due diligence committees. 

Her executive career includes 20 years with Commonwealth Bank and HSBC and over eight years’ experience as Chief Financial Officer 
and Chief Operating Officer for two ASX listed companies. 

Ms Penrose was a Council member of Chief Executive Women for six years.  She is a member of the advisory panel for the Chief Executive 
Women Leaders Program and is a member of its governance and nominations committee. 

Ms Penrose is the Chair of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee. 

Ms Penrose has held the following directorships of other Australian listed entities within the last three years: 

Listed Entity  

  

Period directorship held 

 AWE Limited 2013 to present 

 Vicinity Centres 2015 to present 

 Future Generation Global Investment Company Limited 2015 to present 

 Bank of Queensland Limited 2015 to present 

  

 Silver Chef Limited 2011 to 2015 

 Novion Limited 2014 to 2015 
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Spark Infrastructure’s Executive Team 

At the time of reporting, in addition to the Managing Director, the other members of the Company’s Executive Team were: 
 

Mr Nicholas Schiffer BCom, LLB, MTax 
Chief Financial Officer 

Nicholas Schiffer is an experienced finance executive with 22 years’ experience in investment banking. Prior to joining Spark Infrastructure 
he was a Managing Director at Credit Suisse, with responsibility for investment banking within the energy, transport and general 
infrastructure sectors. 

Nicholas has been a key advisor to a range of Australian and global investors on dozens of projects involving Australian infrastructure and 
utilities businesses and possesses a deep understanding of these sectors and their key drivers and operating environments. 

Nicholas is a director of Victoria Power Networks, SA Power Networks and NSW Electricity Assets Operations (TransGrid). Nicholas is also 
a member of the Victoria Power Networks Audit Committee and Risk and Compliance Committee and the SA Power Networks Audit 
Committee and Risk Management and Compliance Committee. 

Nick was appointed to the position of Chief Financial Officer(1) on 17 July 2017. 

 

Mr Benjamin (Ben) Bolot BCom, LLB, MAICD 
Chief Investment Officer 

Ben has nearly 20 years’ experience in the energy and infrastructure sectors, having previously worked at Origin Energy in Australia, 
Centrica plc in the United Kingdom and North America and Babcock & Brown. 

Immediately prior to joining Spark Infrastructure, Ben was General Manager, Strategy, Development, Transactions and Policy at Origin 
Energy and was responsible for the international business expansion of Origin Energy including development of renewable energy projects 
in Chile, Indonesia and Papua New Guinea.  Ben was also Chief Risk Officer at Origin Energy, responsible for the Enterprise Risk 
Framework, including the Health and Safety, Operational and Commercial Risk Systems. 

Before working at Origin Energy, Ben worked at Babcock & Brown in the infrastructure team, leading a range of private and public market 
transactions in Australia, North America and Asia.  Prior to this Ben was in the Corporate Finance team at Centrica plc, where he worked on 
a number of transactions in the United Kingdom and North America. 

Ben holds a Bachelor of Laws and a Bachelor in Commerce. He is a Chartered Accountant and was also admitted as a Barrister and 
Solicitor of the High Court of New Zealand. 

Ben was appointed to the role of Chief Investment Officer on 1 January 2018. 
 

Ms Alexandra Finley Dip Law, MLM 
Company Secretary and Legal Counsel 

Alexandra Finley has extensive experience in the financial services sector having held strategic, operational and management roles. 

Alexandra is an experienced corporate governance professional with over 20 years' legal and commercial experience gained in private 
practice and in-house. 

Prior to joining Spark Infrastructure, she spent almost 10 years with National Australia Bank/MLC in various senior legal and commercial 
roles. 

Her responsibilities include corporate governance, legal and regulatory compliance, risk management, corporate transactions and advising 
on general legal matters.   

Alexandra was appointed to the position of General Counsel and Company Secretary in September 2008.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
(1) Greg Botham resigned as Chief Financial Officer on 30 April 2017.   
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Operating and Financial Review 
Review of Operations – Spark Infrastructure 
 
The table below provides a summary of key financial performance data: 
 

  Change Compared to 2016 

Operating Cash Flows 

31 December 
2017  

$M 

31 December 
2016  

$M $M % 

Cash Distributions from Investment Portfolio Businesses     

– Victoria Power Networks(1) 154.4 144.6 9.8 6.8 

– SA Power Networks 119.1 119.3 (0.2) (0.2) 

– TransGrid 10.9 44.5 (33.6) (75.5) 

Total Cash Distributions Received from Investment 
Portfolio Businesses 

284.4 308.4 (24.0) (7.8) 

Net interest received/(paid) 0.5 (3.3) 3.8 n/m 

Corporate expenses (13.8) (12.1) (1.7) 14.0 

Project expenses(2) (3.6) (2.6) (1.0) 38.5 

Net Operating Cash Flows(1)(3) 267.5 290.4 (22.9) (7.9) 

     
(1) Includes repayment of shareholder loans 
(2) Principally Endeavour Energy related bid costs 
(3) Excludes net operating cash received from derivative contracts associated with DUET Group in 2016 

Cash distributions received from investment portfolio businesses  

Spark Infrastructure’s cash flow from operating activities for 2017 was $267.5 million.  Excluding the net operating cash received from the 
interest in DUET Group of $15.2 million in 2016, the cash flow from operating activities was down 7.9% in 2017.   

Total distributions received from Victoria Power Networks were $154.4 million, up 6.8%.  This increase reflects the strong operating 
performance of the business, including the strong benefits flowing from the World CLASS efficiency program. 

Total distributions received from SA Power Networks were $119.1 million, reflecting another strong year of operations.    

Total distributions received from TransGrid were $10.9 million, down 75.5%, primarily comprised of interest on subordinated loans. This was, 
in part, caused by TransGrid retaining surplus cash during the year to fund investment opportunities in unregulated infrastructure connection 
assets.  New funding structures for the unregulated business are in the process of being implemented.   

Corporate and project related expenses 

Spark Infrastructure’s corporate expenses increased by $1.7 million to $13.8 million during 2017, primarily reflecting the employment of 
additional resources to expand the breadth and depth of internal specialist resources. 

Project related expenses rose by $1.0 million to $3.6 million and mainly comprised advisory fees for the Endeavour Energy bid.  In addition, 
$0.3 million was incurred for the establishment of contingent funding facilities for Spark Infrastructure’s share of the purchase price should 
the bid have succeeded. Costs for 2016 were mainly fees for advice on the company’s sale of its interest in DUET Group. 

Net interest received/(paid) 

Net interest received was $0.5 million, which was $3.8 million higher than 2016 reflecting higher levels of surplus cash on deposit and lower 
fees on the bank debt facilities.  
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Operating and Financial Review (continued) 
Review of Operations – Spark Infrastructure (continued) 

Distributions paid to Securityholders 

Spark Infrastructure pays out distributions which are fully supported by operating cash flows. Operating cash flows are reviewed at both the 
Spark Infrastructure level as well as on a look-through proportionate basis (i.e. at the investment level).  Operating cashflows are reviewed 
after deducting an allowance for maintaining the relevant investment’s regulated asset base where applicable.  Within this framework, Spark 
Infrastructure continues to manage fluctuations in its working capital as efficiently as possible.     

Spark Infrastructure paid a final distribution for 2016 of $121.9 million to Securityholders in March 2017, representing 7.25 cents per security 
(“cps”). 

Spark Infrastructure paid an interim distribution to Securityholders of $128.3 million in September 2017 for the half year to 30 June 2017. 
This represented a distribution of 7.625 cps. 

The Directors declared a final distribution for 2017 of 7.625 cps. This will be paid in March 2018. The interim and final distributions are fully 
covered by operating cash flows, and are in line with distribution guidance previously provided. 
 
Spark Infrastructure has a Distribution Reinvestment Plan (“DRP”). The Directors regularly assess the operation of the DRP and have 
determined that the DRP will remain suspended.  

Impairment testing 

Any significant changes to expectations about levels of distributions from the investment portfolio businesses are considered to be potential 
triggers for impairment. That is because the distributions are an important part of the overall valuation of investments. As previously 
disclosed, short-term distributions from TransGrid might be lower than the levels originally forecast at the time of Spark Infrastructure’s initial 
investment in TransGrid. The expected reduction is primarily caused by increases in forecast unregulated capital expenditure, which in turn 
will see increased revenues in future years.  

Accordingly, Spark Infrastructure calculated fair value less costs-to-sell to assess its investment in TransGrid. The calculation confirmed that 
the carrying value of the investment did not exceed its recoverable value. As a result, no impairment was found. 

The Directors are satisfied that neither Victoria Power Networks nor SA Power Networks suffered an impairment loss during 2017. 

Federal Treasury Review of Stapled Structures 

In March 2017, the Federal Treasury announced a review of stapled structures in Australia along with the release of a Consultation Paper. 
The review is being carried out in the context of protecting the integrity of Australia’s corporate tax system. 

Spark Infrastructure has been actively engaged in the consultation process to date and has also made a written submission.  Spark 
Infrastructure will continue to monitor and engage with the Federal Treasury to ensure that they understand the impact of any potential 
reforms on Spark Infrastructure’s structure, its investments and its Securityholders’ tax position. 

 

 



Spark Infrastructure 

Directors’ Report 

9 

 

 
 
Review of Operations – Investment Portfolio Businesses 

Spark Infrastructure derives most of its earnings from equity interests in four quality Australian electricity networks across Victoria, South 
Australia and New South Wales.  These are 49% interests in CitiPower and Powercor (together known as “Victoria Power Networks”) and 
SA Power Networks, and a 15.01% interest in the New South Wales electricity transmission business TransGrid. 

 

 

31 December 
2017  

$M 

31 December 
2016  

$M 

Change Compared to 2016 
 

$M % 

Proportional Results (Spark Infrastructure’s Share)     

Distribution and Transmission Revenue 940.3 921.3 19.0 2.1 

Other Revenue 240.4 230.0 10.4 4.5 

Total Revenue 1,180.7 1,151.3 29.4 2.6 

Operating Expenses (392.7) (398.2) 5.5 (1.4) 

Beon Margin 3.5 4.1 (0.6) (14.6) 

EBITDA 791.5 757.2 34.3 4.5 

Net Finance Expenses (171.1) (174.7) 3.6 (2.1) 

EBTDA 620.4 582.5 37.9 6.5 
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Operating and Financial Review (continued) 
Review of Operations – Investment Portfolio Businesses (continued) 

 

Victoria Power Networks (100% basis) 

31 December  

2017 

$M 

31 December  

2016 

$M 

 

Variance 

$M 

 

Variance 

 % 

Distribution Revenue(1) 903.3 900.1 3.2 0.4 

Advanced Metering Infrastructure (“AMI”) Revenue 102.5 108.2 (5.7) (5.3) 

Semi-regulated Revenue 51.1 44.4 6.7 15.1 

Other Unregulated Revenue 54.9 53.2 1.7 3.2 

Total Revenue (excluding Beon Energy Solutions 
(“Beon”)) 1,111.8 1,105.9 5.9 0.5 

Operating Expenses (excluding Beon) (338.6) (330.1) (8.5) 2.6 

Beon Margin 7.2 8.3 (1.1) (13.3) 

EBITDA 780.4 784.1 (3.7) (0.5) 

Depreciation and Amortisation (302.2) (317.0) 14.8 (4.7) 

Net Finance Expenses (155.5) (159.1) 3.6 (2.3) 

Interest on Subordinated Debt (143.3) (159.4) 16.1 (10.1) 

Tax Expense (56.1) (42.4) (13.7) 32.3 

Net Profit after Tax 123.3 106.2 17.1 16.1 

Net Capital Expenditure 463.9 406.6 57.3 14.1 

RAB 5,897 5,734 163 2.8 

Net Debt/RAB (%) 71.0% 72.4% N/A (1.4) 
 

(1) Adjustments are made to distribution revenues to defer/accrue for amounts in excess of/under the regulated revenue cap to reflect that these amounts will be returned 
to/recovered from electricity consumers in future periods via adjustments to tariffs.    

Regulated, semi-regulated and unregulated revenues (excluding Beon) 

During the year, various factors resulted in a 0.5% increase in regulated, semi-regulated and unregulated revenue at Victoria Power 
Networks. 

DUoS revenue increased during 2017 by 0.4% to $903.3 million. The increase in DUoS revenue was primarily due to annual changes in the 
inputs used to derive regulatory revenues. Key impacts relate to inflation and X-factors and the year on year movement in incentive 
payments: 

The X-factors (the real increase in annual expected regulated revenue) applicable from 1 January 2017 for Powercor was 4.68% and for 
CitiPower was 0.4%, which represents a real decrease in revenues before CPI.  DUoS revenue reduced by $21.2 million as a result of the 
CPI-X adjustment. 

2017 DUoS revenue included $20.6 million of STPIS recovery relating to the 2015 regulatory year. 2016 DUoS revenue was reduced by 
$11.0 million STPIS penalty incurred in the 2014 regulatory year.  

A further factor contributing to the movement in DUoS revenue was the release in 2016 of a $9 million provision. This release related to the 
receipt of a favourable Australian Tax Office (“ATO”) ruling on the treatment of capital spent on power line replacement. After excluding this 
release from DUoS revenue for 2016, there was an increase of $12.2 million or 1.4% in 2017. 

Revenue from AMI decreased by 5.3% to $102.5 million in 2017. This was reflective of the depreciating AMI RAB. 

Victoria Power Network’s semi-regulated revenues grew by 15.1% to $51.1 million, mainly due to increased design services provided before 
connecting customers. 
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Operating and Financial Review (continued) 
Review of Operations – Investment Portfolio Businesses (continued) 

Victoria Power Network’s unregulated revenue (excluding Beon) increased by 3.2% to $54.9 million in 2017. The increase was mainly due to 
income from insurance recoveries and proceeds from sale of properties.  

Regulated, semi-regulated and unregulated operating expenses (excluding Beon) 

Operating expenses for Victoria Power Networks increased by 2.6% to $338.6 million in 2017.   

Drivers of the increase in 2017 operating expenses include increases to environment provisions of $13.4 million and the non-cash impact of 
revaluing employee provisions.  These were partially offset by efficiency improvements across corporate functions and increased workforce 
productivity with fewer full-time employees.   

Beon energy solutions 

Unregulated revenue received by Beon increased by $26.6 million to $100.9 million in 2017. Beon operating expenses also increased in 
2017 as the business undertook additional projects, with the overall margin earned dropping by $1.1 million to $7.2 million.  

External financing expenses 

Victoria Power Networks reduced net finance expenses in 2017 by 2.3% to $155.5 million. The reduction was largely due to lower interest 
charges on refinanced debt. 

Capital expenditure 

Continued investment in the augmentation and maintenance of the CitiPower and Powercor networks resulted in a 14.1% increase in net 
capital expenditure in 2017.  This capital expenditure is added to Victoria Power Networks RAB, generating DUoS revenue in future periods.   
 
 

SA Power Networks (100% basis) 

31 December  

2017 

$M 

31 December  

2016 

$M 

Variance 

$M 

Variance  

% 

Distribution Revenue(1) 797.6 739.7 57.9 7.8 

Semi-regulated Revenue 86.1 92.5 (6.4) (6.9) 

Unregulated Revenue 172.6 154.6 18.0 11.6 

Total Revenue 1,056.3 986.8 69.5 7.0 

Operating Expenses (403.2) (426.6) 23.4 (5.5) 

EBITDA 653.1 560.2 92.9 16.6 

Depreciation and Amortisation (225.1) (221.2) (3.9) 1.8 

Net Finance Expenses (124.7) (130.5) 5.8 (4.4) 

Interest on Subordinate Debt (72.5) (72.7) 0.2 (0.3) 

Net Profit 230.8 135.8 95.0 70.0 

Net Capital Expenditure 391.6 285.7 105.9 37.1 

RAB 4,052 3,953 99 2.5 

Net Debt/RAB (%) 73.1% 71.4% N/A 1.7 

(1) Adjustments are made to distribution revenues to defer/accrue for amounts in excess of/under the regulated revenue cap to reflect that these amounts will be returned 
to/recovered from electricity consumers in future periods via adjustments to tariffs.    
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Operating and Financial Review (continued) 
Review of Operations – Investment Portfolio Businesses (continued) 

Regulated, semi-regulated and unregulated revenues 

During the year, various factors resulted in a 7.0% increase in regulated, semi-regulated and unregulated revenue at SA Power Networks. 

SA Power Networks increased its DUoS revenue by 7.8% to $797.6 million. The increase in DUoS revenue was primarily due to annual 
changes in the inputs used to derive regulatory revenues. Key impacts relate to inflation and X-factors and the year on year movement in 
incentive payments:  

The X-factor (the real increase in annual expected regulated revenue) applicable from 1 July 2016 was -7.13% and from 1 July 2017 was -
0.94%, which represent real increases in revenues before CPI.  DUoS revenue increased by $40.0 million as a result of the CPI-X 
adjustment.   

2017 DUoS revenue includes $22.0 million of STPIS recovery relating to the 2013/14, 2014/15 and 2015/16 regulatory years.  DUoS 
revenue for the 2016 year included $7.9 million of STPIS recovery relating to 2013/14 and 2014/15 regulatory years. 

Semi-regulated revenues were down by 6.9% on 2016 to $86.1 million. The reduction was caused by a decrease in road infrastructure 
activity following a peak year in 2016 for such asset relocation projects, partially offset by higher generation connection activity.  

SA Power Networks’ unregulated revenue increased by 11.6% to $172.6 million because of the greater volume of major projects, mainly for 
ElectraNet. 

Regulated, semi-regulated and unregulated operating expenses 

SA Power Networks total operating expenses were $403.2 million, a decrease of 5.5% from 2016.   

The main drivers leading to the movement in operating expenses were: lower Guaranteed Service Level and emergency response 
expenditure following significant storm events in 2016 and lower costs for asset relocations, partially offset by higher connection activity 
expenditure and higher projects expenditure.  Some of the 2016 storm related provisions were ultimately not required. Adjusting for these 
provisions, operating costs would have been $411.4 million in 2017, a decrease of 1.7% on the adjusted 2016 operating costs. 

Capital expenditure 

Continued investment in the augmentation and maintenance of the South Australian network resulted in a 37.1% increase in net capital 
expenditure in 2017.  This capital expenditure is added to SA Power Networks RAB, generating DUoS revenue in future periods. 

External financing costs 

SA Power Networks reduced net finance costs by 4.4% during the year to $124.7 million as a result of lower interest charges on refinanced 
debt, partially offset by lower interest income.  
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Operating and Financial Review (continued) 
Review of Operations – Investment Portfolio Businesses (continued) 

 

TransGrid (100% basis) 

31 December  

2017 

$M 

31 December  

2016 

$M 

Variance 

$M 

Variance  

% 

Transmission Revenue(1) 711.6 784.6 (73.0) (9.3) 

Unregulated Revenue 66.8 51.2 15.6 30.5 

Other Revenue 9.3 2.7 6.6 244.4 

Total Revenue 787.7 838.5 (50.8) (6.1) 

Operating Expenses (194.4) (182.9) (11.5) 6.3 

EBITDA  593.3 655.6 (62.3) (9.5) 

Depreciation and Amortisation (332.4) (320.3) (12.1) 3.8 

Net Finance Expenses (225.5) (219.0) (6.5) 3.0 

Interest on Subordinate Debt (83.9) (89.9) 6.0 (6.7) 

Net (Loss)/Profit (48.5) 26.4 (74.9) (283.7) 

Capital Expenditure 331.5 206.4 125.1 60.6 

RCAB 6,697 6,533 164 2.5 

Net Debt/RCAB(2) (%) 81.5% 85.0% N/A (3.5) 

 

(1) Adjustments are made to transmission revenues to defer/accrue for amounts in excess of/under the regulated revenue cap to reflect that these amounts will be returned 
to/recovered from electricity consumers in future periods via adjustments to tariffs.   

(2) Regulated and contracted asset base.  RAB is based on 31 December 2017 estimate. 

Regulated revenue 

TransGrid’s TUoS revenue fell by 9.3% in 2017 to $711.6 million. 

The 2016 results include reimbursement through tariffs of approximately $51 million under-recovered revenue from regulatory years before 
Spark Infrastructure invested in TransGrid. Excluding these amounts from the 2016 results, TUoS revenue in 2017 declined by 
approximately 2.5%. 

The decrease in TUoS revenue was caused primarily by annual changes in the inputs used to derive regulatory revenues. Key impacts 
relate to inflation and X-factors and the year on year movement in incentive payments:  

 TransGrid’s TUoS X-factor, which applied from 1 July 2016, was 3.7%, resulting in a real decrease in revenues before CPI through to 

30 June 2017. The X-factor applying from 1 July 2017 was 3.94%, a further real decrease before CPI.  The inflation rates applying from 

1 July 2016 and 1 July 2017 were 1.70% and 1.48% respectively.  TUoS revenue decreased in 2017 by $16.5 million as a result of the 

CPI-X adjustments; and 

 TransGrid’s TUoS revenue for 2017 includes $13.8 million of STPIS benefits relating to the 2015 and 2016 calendar years. In 2016, 

TUoS revenue included $12.1 million of STPIS benefits relating to the 2014 and 2015 calendar years. 

Unregulated revenue 

Unregulated revenue was $66.8 million, an increase of 30.5% from 2016. 

This includes $53.4 million of infrastructure services revenue which was mainly derived from line modifications (and associated consulting 
services) as part of asset relocations, specifically in relation to Western Sydney Airport and the Peabody and Mandalong coal mines.  There 
has also been an increase in transmission connection revenues in the year.  However, contracts entered into with customers during late 
2016 and into 2017, are only expected to generate additional revenues from early 2018 following completion of construction, which normally 
takes from 12 to 24 months.    
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Operating and Financial Review (continued) 
Review of Operations – Investment Portfolio Businesses (continued) 

Unregulated revenue also included $8.5 million from telecommunications (up 32.8%) and $5.0 million (up 6.4%) from property services. 

Operating expenses 

TransGrid’s total operating expenses were $194.4 million, an increase of 6.3% from 2016. 
 
Unregulated operating expense were $29.4 million, an increase of 80.4%, principally due to the increase in line modification works.  There 
was also some increase in overhead costs due to the expansion of TransGrid’s Business Growth team with the addition of an Executive 
Manager and business development and project staff.  

Prescribed operating expenses, i.e. those operating expenses relating to the regulated business, were in line with the regulatory operating 
expenses allowance provided in the base year and were 1.0% lower than 2016. TransGrid was deemed by the Australian Energy Regulator 
(“AER”) to be an “efficient operator”(3). Notwithstanding this, reducing TransGrid operating expenses will continue to remain a keen focus for 
the business. 

Capital expenditure 

Capital expenditure was $331.5 million, an increase of 60.6% from 2016.  Regulated capital expenditure increased to $230.8 million, an 
increase of 31.2% on 2016.  Unregulated capital expenditure increased by 230.2% in 2017 to $100.7 million.  

Continued investment in the augmentation and maintenance of the regulated network is added to TransGrid RAB, generating TUoS revenue 
in future periods.  Unregulated capital expenditure invested by TransGrid will result in increased unregulated revenues.  The revenue will 
increase progressively as each project is completed and then escalate with inflation over the 25-30 year contract periods.   

External financing expenses 

TransGrid’s net finance expenses for 2017 increased by 3.0% to $225.5 million. The increase largely came from higher interest charges on 
longer dated capital markets debt, partially replacing short term bank facilities put in place at acquisition. 

 
Financial Position - Spark Infrastructure 

Total equity and Loan Notes decreased by $60.5 million during 2017 to $3,138.5 million.   

Net profit after income tax increased retained earnings by $88.6 million, while Spark Infrastructure’s share of the investment portfolio 
businesses unfavourable mark-to-market movements on interest rate derivatives and actuarial gains on defined benefit superannuation 
plans reduced retained earnings and reserves by $18.2 million.  Capital distributions totalling $131.6 million were paid to Securityholders 
during 2017.   

Spark Infrastructure had available cash on hand at 31 December 2017 of $112.3 million, excluding $5 million in cash held to comply with the 
Australian Financial Services Licence. 

At the end of 2017, Spark Infrastructure had no drawn debt. The company holds revolving bank debt facilities of $250 million. Of this total, 
$225 million will mature in November 2018 and the remaining $25 million in November 2020. Because the company had no drawn debt at 31 
December 2017, Spark Infrastructure did not hedge interest rates. 

 

Outlook for 2018 

The Directors have reaffirmed distribution guidance for 2018 of 16.0 cps, representing annual growth of 4.9% on 2017, subject to business 
conditions. 

Spark Infrastructure anticipates that growth in distributions per security, through to the end of the regulatory determinations in 2020, will be at 
least CPI, subject to business conditions.   

Spark Infrastructure expects to become a taxpayer in the short term.  The timing and amount of tax payable will be dependent on a number 
of factors including the underlying financial performance of Spark Infrastructure’s investment portfolio businesses, tax timing differences and, 
in the longer term, the outcome of existing disputes with the ATO. 

 

 

 

 

 
(3) AER Annual Benchmarking Report – Electricity transmission network service providers, November 2017.   
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REMUNERATION REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

CONTENTS 

The Directors of Spark Infrastructure RE Limited1 present this Remuneration Report (“Report”) on the consolidated entity for the year ended 31 
December 2017, prepared in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001 (“Act”).  The Report provides information on the 
remuneration arrangements for Key Management Personnel (“KMP”), that is, Executive KMP (“Executives”) and Non-Executive Director KMP 
(“NEDs”) for 2017. 

The information provided in this Report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Act. This Report forms part of the Directors’ 
Report. 

The Report covers the following: 
 
1. Summary of KMP Remuneration Arrangements and Defined Terms  

2. 2017 Organisational and Financial Performance  

3. Remuneration Governance 

4. Remuneration Philosophy and Link to Business Strategy 

5. Remuneration Policy and Mix  

6. Remuneration Structure 

7. Employment Contract Key Terms 

8. Key Management Personnel 

9. 2017 Remuneration Outcomes  

10. Non-Executive Director Fees 

11. Statutory Remuneration disclosures 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(1) In this report, Spark Infrastructure RE Limited is referred to as “Spark RE” or “Company”.  Spark RE is the responsible entity of Spark Infrastructure Trust, referred 

to as “ Trust”.  The Trust and its consolidated entities are referred to as “Spark Infrastructure” or “Group”.   
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1. Summary of KMP Remuneration Arrangements and Defined Terms 

The Board, through its Remuneration Committee(1) (“RemCo”), continues to review KMP remuneration arrangements to ensure they align with 
Spark Infrastructure’s business strategy and take into consideration feedback from Securityholders, as appropriate.   

This section highlights defined terms, which are used throughout this Remuneration Report as well as key elements of KMP remuneration for 
2017.  

1.1 Defined Terms 

DEFINED TERMS USED IN THIS REPORT (AND NOT ELSEWHERE DEFINED) 

MD The Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of Spark Infrastructure 

CFO The Chief Financial Officer of Spark Infrastructure 

KMP Key Management Personnel, being those people who have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the major activities of Spark Infrastructure, directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether Non-Executive or otherwise) of 
Spark Infrastructure and any Executive 

Executives The Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the General Counsel / Company Secretary 

Fixed 
Remuneration 

Fixed Remuneration is the fixed annual remuneration component of Total Remuneration. Fixed Remuneration includes cash, 
superannuation, car leases and parking allowances but excludes Non-Monetary Items 

LTI The Long Term Incentive Plan. Details of the LTI are set out in the table below. 

NED Non-Executive Directors 

Non-
Monetary 
Items 

This includes life and income protection insurances and any other incidental benefits 

KPIs Key performance indicators set by the Board for the Executives 

Securities The securities traded on the ASX under the ticker “SKI” (comprising one unit in Spark Infrastructure Trust stapled to one loan 
note issued by Spark Infrastructure RE Limited (ACN 114 940 984) in its capacity as responsible entity for Spark Infrastructure 
Trust) 

STI The Short Term Incentive Plan. Details of the STI are set out in the table below.  

Total 
Remuneration 

Total Remuneration comprises Fixed Remuneration plus Non-Monetary Items plus STI plus LTI 

TSR TSR or Total Securityholder Return is the total return from a security to an investor. It combines security price appreciation or 
diminution plus distributions reinvested to show the total return to an investor 

 

1.2 Key Changes to Remuneration Structure in 2017 and 2018 

There was no increase to Executive total remuneration opportunity or NED Board or Committee fees for 2017.   

For 2017, Directors introduced two new LTI measures in relation to operating cash flow (OCF). From 1 January 2017, the LTI measures comprised 
Risk Adjusted TSR at 50% weighting, stand-alone OCF at 25% weighting and look-through OCF at 25% weighting. 

The Directors introduced an Executive Minimum Securityholding Policy under which the MD is required to hold the equivalent of 100% of Fixed 
Remuneration in Securities (including earned but not yet vested Securities), to be acquired within a three-year period and maintained throughout 
tenure. For other KMP, the requirement is the equivalent of 50% of Fixed Remuneration to be held in Securities (as set out above). 

The Board also established a NED Securityholding Policy requiring 100% of base fees to be held as Securities to be acquired over three years 
(from later of 1 January 2017 or commencement) and maintained throughout tenure. 

Unregulated revenue performance at TransGrid was also introduced as a specific financial STI measure for 2017, while a third of the aggregated 
STI financial measures specifically related to the performance of TransGrid. 

There are no changes to Remuneration structure proposed for 2018. 

 

(1) The Board resolved to resume nomination responsibilities from the Nomination and Remuneration Committee in December 2017.  The Charters for the Board and Remuneration 
Committee have been amended accordingly. 
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1.3 KMP Remuneration Arrangements for 2017  

ELEMENT SPARK INFRASTRUCTURE APPROACH 
FURTHER 

INFORMATION 

SUMMARY OF 2017 REMUNERATION AND OUTCOMES 

1. Link between 
Spark 
Infrastructure’s 
2017 
performance 
and Executive 
remuneration 
outcomes 

Summary of the remuneration structure for 2017 for KMP is summarised below in this 
section. 

Remuneration philosophy, policy and mix is described in sections 4 and 5. 

Explanation of the short-term incentive and long-term incentive arrangements is 
provided in section 6. 

Summary of the organisational and financial performance for Spark Infrastructure for 
2017 is provided in section 2. 

Detail on the 2017 remuneration outcomes, incorporating financial and non-financial KPI 
performance, for KMP is provided in section 9. 

 

sections 2, 4, 5, 
6 and 9 

EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION FRAMEWORK 

2. Proportion of 
fixed and 
variable 
remuneration 

Executive remuneration is comprised of fixed remuneration and variable (i.e. ‘at-risk’) 
remuneration, which includes STI and LTI. The proportion of fixed and variable 
remuneration for each executive is outlined below.  

Executive 
Fixed 

remuneration 
Variable 

remuneration 

MD 38% 62% 

CFO 43% 57% 

General 
Counsel / 
Company 
Secretary 50% 50% 

 
 

section 5 

FIXED REMUNERATION 

3. Fixed 
remuneration  

Fixed remuneration is targeted at the median against Spark Infrastructure’s market 
comparator group, composed of ASX-listed entities of a similar size and operational 
scope. 

There were no increases to Executive fixed remuneration in 2017. For Executives 
(excluding newly appointed Executives), the Board has determined that a CPI related 
increase to fixed remuneration of 2% for 2018 is appropriate. 

 

section 5.2 

SHORT TERM INCENTIVE PLAN (“STI”) 

4. Structure and 
quantum 

Maximum STI opportunities in 2017 expressed as a percentage of Fixed Remuneration 
were as follows:  

MD CFO 

General 
Counsel / 
Company 
Secretary 

100% 80% 70% 

Half of any STI is paid in cash following the end of the STI performance period. The 
remaining 50% of STI is deferred into Rights to strengthen the alignment of Executives 
to the delivery of value to our Securityholders The Rights vest as follows: 

 50% vest 12 months after the end of the STI performance period; and 

 50% vest 24 months after the end of the STI performance period.  

 

sections 5.1 
and 6.1 

5. Performance 
measures and 
gateway 

STI performance measures include both financial and non-financial KPIs. Achievement 
of these KPIs can be influenced by Executives in exercising oversight of Spark 
Infrastructure’s investments and driving performance through efficiency, regulatory 
outcomes and growth in the unregulated businesses. The weighting of financial and non-

section 6.1 
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ELEMENT SPARK INFRASTRUCTURE APPROACH 
FURTHER 

INFORMATION 

financial KPIs may differ among Executives depending on their relative influence in each 
area of focus. 

In 2017, financial KPIs were total distributions from investments, total look-through 
Operating Cash Flow (“OCF”), Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and 
Amortisation (“EBITDA”), unregulated revenue targets and total controllable costs. Non-
financial KPIs included strategic measures as well as stakeholder management, 
operations and people development measures. 

In order for the financial component of the STI to be awarded, a performance gateway 
applies such that Spark Infrastructure must achieve its Distribution Guidance for the 
relevant year.  

The distribution gateway does not apply to the non-financial component of the STI. 

 

LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN (“LTI”) 

6. Structure LTI awards are granted in the form of Rights. Each Right is a right to acquire a Security, 
subject to achievement of performance measures over the performance and vesting 
period.  

Executives receive one Security for each Right that vests, together with a distribution 
equivalent payment for each Security allocated on vesting (equal to the distributions the 
Executive would have been entitled to receive had they held the Securities during the 
vesting period).  

 

sections 5.1 
and 6.2 

7. Performance 
measures and 
vesting period 

The Board believes a mix of external (ie. risk adjusted TSR) and internal (i.e. OCF) 
measures for the LTI provides the right focus for Executives on delivering long-term 
Securityholder value. Accordingly, grants made from 1 January 2017 and thereafter will 
be assessed against the following performance measures: 

 Tranche 1 (50% of LTI award): Spark Infrastructure’s risk adjusted TSR (assessed 
against the constituent companies in the S&P/ASX 200 index) over a four-year period.  

 Tranche 2 (25% of LTI award): Standalone OCF will be measured over a three-year 
period (the test period), plus require a further one-year service period in order to vest at 
the end of four years (i.e. four-year vesting period). 

 Tranche 3 (25% of LTI award): Look-through OCF will be measured over a three-year 
period (the test period), plus require a further one year service period in order to vest at 
the end of four years (i.e. a four-year vesting period). 

 

section 6.2 

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (“NED”) FEES 

8. NED fee 
quantum 

With the exception of the Board Chair, NEDs receive a base fee and additional fees for 
chairing or participating in Board committees. The Board Chair’s fee is inclusive of 
committee membership.  

The Board has determined that a CPI related increase of 2% to NED fees is appropriate 
in 2018. 

 

section 10 

9. NED fees from 
other entities 

NEDs may be appointed to the Boards of investment portfolio companies from time to 
time, and discharge their role as directors of those companies separately and in addition 
to their role on the Spark Infrastructure Board. NEDs receive fees directly from those 
investment portfolio companies. These fees are not paid by Spark Infrastructure because 
they are separate to fees paid for their role as NEDs of Spark Infrastructure. Directors’ 
fees for investment portfolio companies are determined by the boards of those 
companies.  

 

section 10.4 

KMP MINIMUM SECURITYHOLDING REQUIREMENT 

10. Minimum 
requirement 

From 1 January 2017, KMP are required to hold a minimum number of Securities as 
follows: 

 MD: 100% of Fixed Remuneration 

section 9.5 
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ELEMENT SPARK INFRASTRUCTURE APPROACH 
FURTHER 

INFORMATION 

 Other Executives: 50% of Fixed Remuneration  

 NEDs: Equivalent of one years’ director base fees  

Securities include Securities and Rights (earned but not yet vested) under the Deferred 
STI Plan. KMP are required to meet the minimum Securityholding requirement within a 
three-year period from 1 January 2017 or from commencing with Spark Infrastructure, 
whichever is the later. 

 

2018 REMUNERATION  

11. Changes to 
Remuneration 
for 2018 

For 2018, a CPI related increase of 2% has been determined for the Managing Director 
and Board and Committee fees. There are no changes to the Remuneration Framework 
or Structure for 2018. The Board has sought to provide greater disclosure of non-
financial KPIs in this 2017 Remuneration Report.  

 

sections 5.2 
and 10.2 

 

2. 2017 Organisational and Financial Performance  

2017 was another year of consistent and strong performance for Spark Infrastructure which included the following significant achievements: 

 An increase in distributions for 2017, up 5.2% to 15.25 cents per security (cps), achieving distribution guidance. 

 Distribution guidance of 16.0cps for 2018, up 4.9% on 2017. 

 Continued excellent performance from our investment portfolio businesses with an overall increase in distributions, growth in the 

unregulated revenue and unregulated business opportunities, and continued delivery of operational efficiencies. 

 Growth of unregulated opportunities in TransGrid. Infrastructure connections opportunities are progressing well. An agreed 

capital funding structure to finance unregulated asset connections, while still providing distributions to securityholders, will be 

implemented by mid 2018, and will further enhance the competitiveness of TransGrid’s market position. 

 TransGrid submitted a robust and well-considered regulatory proposal for its next 5-year regulatory period (2018 to 2023). The 

proposal had received considerable input from a broad stakeholder group. The Australian Energy Regulator’s (AER) draft 

determination indicated acceptance of a significant proportion of the proposal. This was a positive outcome and was consistent 

with TransGrid’s expectations in terms of revenue. TransGrid submitted its response to the AER challenging material issues, in 

particular, reframing its proposal for expenditure to support the significant “Powering Sydney’s Future” capital project. 

 The Endeavour Energy privatisation process. Spark Infrastructure ran a robust and comprehensive due diligence process for the 

Endeavour Energy business exercising price discipline and submitting a fully funded bid to the State of NSW. Our bid included a 

highly acclaimed business plan, a unique synergy proposition involving TransGrid, leveraged the knowledge and expertise of our 

existing investment businesses and included a negotiated multi-year service level agreement solution to recognise and reward 

the value add services that Spark Infrastructure brought to the consortium and the subsequent business transformation exercise.  

 Contribution to the energy sector debate. Increased recognition of Spark Infrastructure in the public arena, particularly in the 

regulatory space throughout the year, with important submissions and engagement with government and regulators on various 

matters including the inflation review, rate of return review, limited merits review and the ACCC review of electricity pricing. We 

were also instrumental in establishing an investors’ reference group which has been formally incorporated into the AER rate of 

return review process. 

 Investor and stakeholder engagement. The Chairman, independent directors and Management once again regularly met with 

investors and governance and remuneration advisers during the year in order to seek feedback and maintain an open and 

transparent dialogue with Securityholders. We were pleased to receive votes in support of the Board endorsed resolutions at the 

2017 Annual General Meeting.  
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2.1 Spark Infrastructure Financial Performance 

The table below shows the reported financial performance of Spark Infrastructure over the last five years. 

 5 YEAR FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE  

 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 

Statutory Profit after tax attributable to Securityholders 
($’000) 

88,641 81,083 88,024 128,133 128,435 

Statutory Profit before Loan Note Interest and tax expense 
($’000) 

265,804 225,816 252,820 272,092 294,482 

Closing Security price at year end ($) 2.51 2.38 1.92 2.13 1.62(1) 

Distribution per Security (cents) 15.25 14.50 12.00 11.50 11.00 

Operating costs ($’000) – includes project costs 16,953 13,545 14,196 11,315 8,195 

Look-through Operating Cash flow (cps) 21.4 22.1 28.9 25.1 22.3 

Net Debt/Regulatory Asset Base (“RAB”) (%) 74.2 74.7 73.0 77.2 78.5 

(1) The opening security price at the start of 2013 was $1.67 

 

 

2.2 Spark Infrastructure 5 Year Total Shareholder Returns 
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Source: Iress and Factset as at 29 December 2017 
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3. Remuneration Governance 

The Board, RemCo, external advisors and management work together to apply our remuneration principles and ensure our remuneration 
strategy supports sustainable Securityholder value, while always maintaining high standards of corporate governance. The diagram below 
represents Spark Infrastructure’s remuneration decision making framework. 

 

The composition of the RemCo is set out on page 30. Further information on the RemCo’s role, responsibilities and membership can be 
viewed at www.sparkinfrastructure.com/about/corporate-governance/governance-documents.  

 

3.1 Use of Remuneration Advisors 

The RemCo appointed Ernst & Young (“EY”) as its external remuneration advisor during 2017.  

The RemCo has established protocols to ensure that advice provided by advisors is free from undue influence from the members of the KMP to 
whom the advice relates. 

During 2017, EY provided the RemCo with: 

 Market remuneration information;  

 Independent input into key remuneration decisions; and 

 Assistance with the development of the Remuneration Report. 

No remuneration recommendations were provided by EY or any other advisor during the year. 

 

http://www.sparkinfrastructure.com/about/corporate-governance/governance-documents
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4. Remuneration Philosophy and Link to Business Strategy  

At Spark Infrastructure, our Executive remuneration is linked to the drivers of our business strategy, with the overarching aim of maximising 
Securityholder value. Our strategic drivers are reflected in STI and LTI performance measures, so that Spark Infrastructure’s actual performance 
directly affects what Executives earn. 
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5. Remuneration Policy and Mix 

Executives’ remuneration and mix of remuneration are appropriate to each Executive’s position, responsibilities and performance, in a way that 
aligns with our business strategy. 

Executives receive Fixed Remuneration and variable ‘at-risk’ remuneration consisting of short and long-term incentive opportunities. Executive 
remuneration is reviewed annually by the RemCo with reference to the market and Spark Infrastructure’s business operations. 

Spark Infrastructure’s remuneration policy has a strong performance focus, with a large proportion of Executives’ remuneration contingent on 
maximising Securityholder value. The charts below set out the remuneration structure and maximum remuneration mix for the MD and other 
Executives in 2017. Refer to section 6.1 and 6.2 for detail on the structure of the STI and LTI. 

 

 

5.1 Potential Maximum At-Risk Remuneration for Executives in 2017 

Presented below are the Executive maximum STI and LTI opportunities for 2017 expressed as a percentage of Fixed Remuneration. The 
opportunities are determined with reference to market norms and the Executive’s relative influence on Spark Infrastructure’s performance. The 
minimum STI and LTI opportunities are nil. 

 

POSITION 
MAXIMUM STI OPPORTUNITY % OF FIXED 

REMUNERATION 
MAXIMUM LTI OPPORTUNITY % OF FIXED 

REMUNERATION 

Managing Director 100% 65% 

Chief Financial Officer 80% 50% 

General Counsel and Company Secretary 70% 30% 
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5.2 The MD’s Remuneration Package for 2017 

Details of the MD’s 2017 remuneration package are set out in the table below. 

 

BASE 2017  (INCL. 
SUPER-ANNUATION 
AND CAR-PARKING) 

($) 

2017 STI 
MAXIMUM 

OPPORTUNITY 

(%) 

2017 STI 
MAXIMUM 

OPPORTUNITY 

($) 

2017 LTI 
MAXIMUM 

OPPORTUNITY 

(%) 

2017 LTI 
MAXIMUM 

OPPORTUNITY 

($) 

TOTAL 
REMUNERATION 

MAXIMUM 
OPPORTUNITY 

($) 

Rick Francis 817,000 100% 817,000 65% 531,050 2,165,050 

 

The MD will receive a CPI increase of 2% in Base Remuneration in 2018. There are no other changes to the MD’s remuneration package for 
2018. 

 

5.3 STI and LTI Common Features: Clawback, treatment of awards on cessation of employment and trading policy 

Below are key common features shared between the STI and LTI. 

Clawback Clawback arrangements remain in place for Executives. Unvested and vested but unpaid STI and/or LTI may be 
forfeited if an Executive: 

 has personally acted fraudulently or dishonestly; 

 has breached his or her material obligations to Spark Infrastructure; or 

 receives remuneration as a result of the fraud, dishonesty or breach of obligation of another person. 

Spark Infrastructure’s clawback policy may be accessed at: www.sparkinfrastructure.com/about/corporate-
governance/governance-documents.  

Cessation of employment The treatment of Rights on termination of employment will vary based on assessment by the Board of the 
circumstances of termination.  

If an Executive ceases employment with Spark Infrastructure prior to the end of the performance period, vesting 
period (including additional service period in respect of the OCF component of the LTI award) or deferral period by 
reason of resignation or termination for cause, all unvested Rights automatically lapse.   

If an Executive ceases employment for any other reason (including death, redundancy, genuine retirement), a pro-
rata portion of their unvested Rights will remain ‘on-foot’ subject to the original terms until the end of the vesting 
period. The pro-rata portion that remains ‘on-foot’ will be determined based on the portion of the performance or 
deferral period elapsed on the date of their cessation, and the remaining portion will lapse on the date of cessation. 

Executives who cease employment remain eligible for the cash component of their STI, pro-rated for the part year of 
their completed service (unless their employment is terminated for cause) in an amount to be determined by the 
Board by reference to their KPIs for that year. Any payment of the cash component of their STI will remain subject to 
achievement of the financial and non-financial KPIs as set by the Board.  

This leaver provision enhances Spark Infrastructure’s risk management by: 

 encouraging retention; 

 allowing discovery of any factors that could contribute to financial restatement that may result in forfeiture 
of reward; 

 allowing for a review of Executive behaviours to ensure they have complied with Spark Infrastructure’s 
ethical and risk management guidelines and standards of business conduct; 

 encouraging the establishment and maintenance of a sound management legacy; and 

 maintaining Securityholder alignment for a longer period. 

Trading Policy Spark Infrastructure’s Securities Trading Policy applies to all KMP. The Policy prohibits KMP from entering into 
transactions that operate to limit the economic risk of their Spark Infrastructure Securities (e.g. Hedging 
arrangements) with respect to unvested remuneration entitlements held pursuant to any plan, or Securities that are 
subject to a holding lock or other restriction on dealing under a plan. The Policy also prohibits employees from 
dealing in Spark Infrastructure Securities while in possession of material non-public information relevant to Spark 
Infrastructure. Spark Infrastructure’s Trading Policy may be viewed at: www.sparkinfrastructure.com/about/corporate-
governance/governance-documents. 

 

http://www.sparkinfrastructure.com/about/corporate-governance/governance-documents
http://www.sparkinfrastructure.com/about/corporate-governance/governance-documents
http://www.sparkinfrastructure.com/about/corporate-governance/governance-documents
http://www.sparkinfrastructure.com/about/corporate-governance/governance-documents
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6. Remuneration Structure  

6.1 Short-term Incentives 

The following table sets out the key features of Spark Infrastructure’s STI arrangements. 

Purpose The STI plan is operated to:  

 focus Executives, through challenging performance measures, on the achievement of results in areas that are 
expected to impact the performance of Spark Infrastructure in the short term;  

 create sustained annual performance over a longer term period through STI deferral; 

 assist in the attraction, reward and retention of high quality employees; 

 constrain the potential for unacceptable risk taking; 

 ensure that a significant portion of remuneration is “at risk” with a mix of financial and non-financial performance 
measures; and 

 strengthen the link between Executive remuneration and long-term Securityholder returns through STI deferral.  

Gateway In order for the financial component of the STI to be awarded, Spark Infrastructure must achieve its Distribution Guidance 
for the year. 

The distribution gateway does not apply to the non-financial component of the STI. 

Performance measures An Executive’s STI award is assessed based on financial KPIs (subject to the gateway) and non-financial KPIs over a 12-
month performance period. Non-Financial KPIs may be weighted differently among participants depending on their 
relative influence in the area. The weighting of financial and non-financial KPIs for each Executive in 2017 was as follows: 

 

In 2017, Spark Infrastructure Financial KPIs and Non-Financial KPIs were: 

Financial KPIs: definition and rationale 

 Total distributions (25%) - Spark Infrastructure’s objective is to deliver steadily growing distributions to 
Securityholders over time, based on distributions received from its investments.  

 Total look-through OCF/EBITDA (20%) - Look-through cash flows demonstrates growth and operational excellence 
and performance of the underlying businesses, which produces distribution growth. 

 Unregulated revenue (10%) –growth in unregulated revenue at TransGrid demonstrates achievement of key 
business priorities of our investment innovation, their innovation agendas and ability to participate in rapid industry 
change and the move to a renewable energy future.  

 Total Spark Infrastructure controllable costs (5%) - Disciplined management of Spark Infrastructure’s costs is an 
area of continual focus to deliver value for Securityholders. 

Measures relevant to TransGrid had a 20% weighting across all financial KPIs (i.e. one third). The creation of long-term 
value accretion from the 2015 investment in TransGrid is a key priority for Spark Infrastructure. 

A “target” and “stretch” goal is set at the start of the financial year with the outcome calculated based on the following 
scale. Outcomes are reviewed by the RemCo and recommended to the Board for approval. 

Non-financial KPIs: definition and rationale  

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE  

 Strategic – Spark Infrastructure’s vision is to be a leading Australian listed utility infrastructure investment fund, to 
provide long-term attractive stable returns and capital growth in line with its risk profile and market expectations, and 
to establish a diversified portfolio of quality regulated utility infrastructure assets over time. 

 Special projects - from time to time Spark Infrastructure will undertake special projects such as the assessment of a 

POSITION FINANCIAL KPIs NON-FINANCIAL KPIs 

MD 60% 40% 

CFO 60% 40% 

General Counsel / Company Secretary 40% 60% 

PERFORMANCE LEVEL 
% OF MAXIMUM STI AWARDED BASED ON 
SPARK INFRASTUCTURE FINANCIAL KPIs 

Below target 0% 

Target 70% 

Exceed stretch target 100% 
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potential acquisition opportunity with an assessment made on the diligence and effectiveness of how the project is 
executed and not on the outcome.  

 Target – focus on Spark strategy and opportunities including disciplined bid for Endeavour Energy  

 Operations - operational efficiency, reliability and safety of the underlying businesses in the investment portfolio 
coupled with identifying and prosecuting unregulated business opportunities is a key tenet of success. Spark 
Infrastructure exercises robust stewardship of the business through its active management approach and 
participation on the boards in its investment portfolio. 

 Target – focus on achieving efficiency and outperformance by investment businesses, resulting in 
distributions to Spark Infrastructure, TransGrid performance against acquisition model and 
transformation journey  

 Optimising regulatory outcomes - is critical to the ongoing financial performance of the businesses that comprise 
Spark Infrastructure’s investment portfolio. 

 Target – focus on engaging with regulators, response on regulatory change and supporting TransGrid 
regulatory submission  

 

ORGANISATIONAL PERFORMANCE  

 People, governance and process improvement - people development is fundamental in maintaining sustainable 
long-term operations. Spark Infrastructure has a small team of specialist employees and the creation of value for the 
listed entity relies on the skills, expertise and experience of its people. It is also essential to have an effective risk 
compliance framework in place.  

 Target – focus on building team to enhance performance, remuneration structure for investment 
portfolio companies aligned to Spark Infrastructure as shareholder  

 Stakeholder management - interaction of management with investment partners, industry participants, market 
participants and the communities in which its underlying businesses operate is critical to realising near term value 
creation and ensuring the long-term sustainability of the investment portfolio. Spark Infrastructure is positioned to be 
an active participant and thought leader in industry and regulatory change.  

 Target – focus on enhanced engagement with investors and partner relationships and contribution to 
the energy sector debate  

Non-Financial KPIs and targets for Executives (other than the MD) are set and assessed by the MD, and are reviewed by 
the RemCo.  

The MD’s performance is assessed and approved by the Board. The Board’s assessment and review is conducted on 
both a quantitative and qualitative level. 

For a summary of overall 2017 organisational and financial performance, refer to section 2. 

Performance and deferral 
period 

Performance is measured at the end of Spark Infrastructure’s financial year.  

For Executives, 50% of any STI award is paid in cash in February following the year of assessment. The remaining 50% 
of the STI is delivered in the form of Rights and vests (subject to continuous service) as follows: 

 50% vests 12 months after the end of the performance period; and  

 50% vests 24 months after the end of the performance period (deferral periods). 

Rights are granted at no cost to the Executive. Upon vesting, rights are automatically exercised and no amount is payable 
by the Executive on exercise. One Security is received for every Right that vests. A dividend equivalent payment is also 
made upon vesting, equal to the distributions the Executive would have been entitled to receive had they held the physical 
Securities during the deferral period. 

Spark Infrastructure uses a face value methodology for allocating Rights to each Executive, being the VWAP of Securities 
traded in the 30 trading days up to and including 31 December. The relevant VWAP for determination of the 2018 Grant of 
Rights is $2.61. 

 

6.1.1 Historic STI Deferral Arrangements 

For FY2014, deferred STI awards were delivered under a cash-based “phantom” security plan, and hence are cash-settled at vesting. NB. The 
last tranche of the FY2014 deferred STI awards vested at 31 December 2016 (paid in March 2017). 

For FY2015, deferred STI awards were to be delivered under a cash-based “phantom” security plan, whereby ‘actual’ Securities would not be 
granted. However, in February 2016, Executives elected to take their deferred STI for FY2015 as Rights, in line with the arrangements outlined 
above. 

From FY2016, deferred STI awards are delivered as Rights in line with the arrangements outlined above.  

For further detail regarding STI deferral awards ‘on-foot’ during 2017 (including the number of instruments granted), refer to section 11.2. 
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6.2 Long-term Incentives 

The following table sets out the key features of Spark Infrastructure’s LTI arrangements. 

 

Purpose  The LTI is operated to:  

 align Executive reward with the long-term interests of Spark Infrastructure and its Securityholders, ensuring 
creation of sustainable Securityholder returns; 

 focus on performance hurdles that measure performance in terms of risk management as well as returns; and 

 ensure that a significant portion of remuneration is “at risk”. 

Performance measures Grants made in 2017 were subject to three independent performance measures: 

 Risk Adjusted TSR (50% of LTI award)  

 Standalone OCF (25% of LTI award) 

 Look-through OCF (25% of LTI award) 

Risk adjusted relative TSR Risk adjusted TSR is the return on a Security in excess of what would be expected taking into consideration the 
relative level of risk in each peer company. The relationship between risk and return is well understood; that is, if risk 
is high, then there is an expectation of higher returns, and vice versa. 

Traditional TSR does not to take into account the riskiness of an investment in a particular company. For example, 
two companies could have the same shareholder return, but one may be a much riskier investment than the other. 
While TSR is a common method of assessing long-term performance, in our view, executives who deliver the same 
level of return at a lower risk should be rewarded accordingly. 

We understand investors in Spark Infrastructure generally seek stable returns and lower than average risk. To 
reflect this, we identified two key factors which influence returns: systemic risk (e.g. economic and political) and non-
systemic risk (e.g. management skills and judgement). By adjusting for systemic risk in our calculation of TSR, the 
variability in adjusted returns is more strongly related to management performance. 

Risk adjusted TSR is selected as the LTI measure as it provides Spark Infrastructure with a measure of how we are 
performing in comparison to the market. Where an absolute TSR measure is used, Executives could be rewarded by 
a rising market even if Spark Infrastructure performs relatively poorly. 

Ranking companies by their risk-adjusted return, over a specific period, provides a comparison that more closely 
reflects how investment decisions are actually made. That is, when making an investment decision, an investor will 
have a requirement for a company return that is informed by the perceived risk associated with the company.  

The Board views the constituents of the S&P/ASX 200 index to be the most appropriate comparator group as this 
group should represent the competing investment preferences of our investors. 

Calculation of risk adjusted TSR and vesting schedule 

The excess return of Spark Infrastructure (above what would be expected taking into consideration the relative level 
of risk in each peer company’s security) is compared to the excess returns of S&P/ASX 200 index companies over 
the four-year performance period, to determine Spark Infrastructure’s percentile ranking. 

The degree to which LTI opportunity vests is determined by reference to the following scale: 

TSR PERCENTILE RANKING % OF LTI AWARD THAT VESTS 

Below the 51st percentile 0% 

At the 51st percentile 30% 

Between the 51st percentile and the 75th percentile Pro-rata vesting between 30% and100% 

At or above the 75th percentile 100% 

 
Testing of the award will occur shortly after the end of the four-year performance period. If any LTI awards do not 
vest on testing, they will immediately lapse. There is no retesting of LTI awards.  

The risk adjusted TSR calculation is undertaken independently of management and is externally reviewed on an 
annual basis. The Board has disclosed the methodology used to calculate the risk adjusted TSR applicable to 
assess the LTI on Spark Infrastructure’s website at www.sparkinfrastructure.com/about/corporate-
governance/governance-documents.  

Standalone OCF and  
Look-through OCF  

Standalone OCF and Look-through OCF were selected as performance measures for the LTI as they: 

 can be influenced by Executives by actively managing the cost, performance, capital expenditure and debt 
strategy of our investments; 

 clearly demonstrate the performance of Spark Infrastructure; and 

 reflect Spark Infrastructure’s ability to influence the investment companies to ensure distributions are received 

http://www.sparkinfrastructure.com/about/corporate-governance/governance-documents
http://www.sparkinfrastructure.com/about/corporate-governance/governance-documents
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and are available to be paid to Spark Infrastructure investors. 

The OCF measures increase transparency and reduce any potential for artificial growth in distributions to 
Securityholders by more clearly linking the operational performance of the investment portfolio to the performance of 
Spark Infrastructure. The decision to use both look-through and standalone cash flow measures seeks to emphasise 
this balance.  

Use of a look-through cash flow measure recognises the importance of protecting Securityholder interests through 
the appropriate extraction of cash from the investment portfolio. Use of a standalone cash flow measure recognises 
the application of management’s particular skills in the management of minority interests and represents a significant 
part of the value added by Spark Infrastructure. 

Calculation of OCF and vesting schedule 

Operating Cash flow (“OCF”) is the cash flow from operating activities of the businesses comprising Spark 
Infrastructure’s investment portfolio. Operating cash flow is set each year in accordance with Spark Infrastructure’s 
budget and business plan and reflects the underlying 5-year business plans of the investment portfolio businesses. 
Operating Cash flow is measured on a standalone and a look through basis. Standalone OCF is calculated as the 
distributions from the portfolio businesses less corporate expenses and represents the cash flow available for 
distribution to Securityholders. Look-through OCF is comprised of the net cash flow from business operations of the 
investment portfolio. 

The degree to which LTI opportunity vests is determined by reference to OCF performance over the three-year 
performance period and continued service until the end of the four-year vesting period. A three-year performance 
period was selected as it allows smoothing of outcomes over the testing period in order to reduce volatility between 
and across regulatory periods. 

 

OCF performance is measured by reference to the following scale: 

THREE-YEAR AGGREGATED OCF TARGET % OF LTI AWARD THAT VESTS 

Below 97.5% of target 0% 

97.5% of target 25% 

100% of target Pro-rata vesting between 25% and 100% 

105% of target 100% 

 

Testing of the LTI opportunity will occur shortly after the end of the three-year performance period. To the extent any 
LTI awards are not eligible for vesting based on performance, they will immediately lapse.  

LTI awards that become eligible for vesting (based on performance) will vest subject to continued service over an 
additional one-year service period.  

There is no retesting of LTI awards. 

Is LTI grant quantum based 
on “face value” methodology? 

Spark Infrastructure uses a face value methodology for allocating Rights to each Executive, being the VWAP of 
stapled securities traded in the 30 trading days up to and including 31 December. The VWAP for assessment of the 
2017 Grant of LTI Awards is $2.61. 

How are awards delivered? LTI awards are delivered in the form of Rights, which are granted at no cost to the Executive. Executives receive one 
Security for every Right that vests, together with a distribution equivalent payment for each Security allocated on 
vesting. This distribution equivalent payment will be equal to the distributions the Executive would have been entitled 
to receive had they held the Securities during the vesting period. Rights are automatically exercised on vesting and 
no amount is payable by the Executive on exercise.  

 
6.3 Historic LTI Arrangements 

The FY2014 LTI award, due for vesting at 31 December 2017, was granted as “phantom” equity, unlike subsequent LTI awards that were 
delivered as Rights. The performance measure applied is the same as the FY2015 and FY2016 awards (i.e. 100% weighting to risk adjusted 
TSR), as is the period over which it is measured (i.e. a four year period). The Award will be tested following the end of the performance period 
and will vest based on the outcome of the testing. Further detail regarding this award may be found in the 2014 Remuneration Report, which is 
available on Spark Infrastructure’s website. 

For a breakdown of LTI awards ‘on-foot’ during 2017 (including the number of instruments granted), refer to section 11.3. 
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7. Employment Contract Key Terms 

Each Executive, including the MD, has a formal employment agreement. These employment agreements are of a continuing nature and have no 
fixed term of service. There were no changes to the employment agreements for Executives in 2017. 

The key terms of the employment agreements are summarised below: 

 

POSITION CONTRACT PERIOD 

NOTICE PERIOD 
(BY EXECUTIVE OR SPARK 

INFRASTRUCTURE) 
TERMINATION PAYMENT – WITHOUT 

CAUSE 

Managing Director Permanent 6 months 12 months’ Fixed Remuneration 

Chief Financial Officer Permanent 3 months 6 months’ Fixed Remuneration 

General Counsel / Company Secretary Permanent 3 months 6 months’ Fixed Remuneration 

 

 
8. Key Management Personnel 

This Report covers Spark Infrastructure’s KMP, comprised of Executives and Independent NEDs. 

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the KMP were:  

KMP POSITION TERM AS KMP 

EXECUTIVES 

Mr Rick Francis Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer  
Full Year 

Mr Greg Botham Chief Financial Officer (ceased 30 April 2017) 
Part Year 

Mr Nicholas Schiffer Chief Financial Officer (commenced 17 July 2017) 
Part Year 

Ms Alexandra Finley General Counsel / Company Secretary  
Full Year 

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 

Dr Douglas McTaggart 
Independent Non-Executive Director and Chair, Member of Remuneration 
Committee  

Full Year 

Mr Andrew Fay Member of Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 
Full Year 

Mr Greg Martin Member of Remuneration Committee  
Full Year 

Ms Anne McDonald 
Chair of Audit Risk and Compliance Committee to 30 June 2017, and Member 
thereafter 
Member of Remuneration Committee to 30 June 2017, and Chair thereafter  

Full Year 

Ms Karen Penrose 
Member of Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee to 30 June 2017, and Chair 
thereafter 

Full Year 

Ms Christine McLoughlin(1) Member of Remuneration Committee 
Part Year 

Dr Keith Turner(2) Member of Remuneration Committee 
Part Year 

(1) Ms Christine McLoughlin retired from the Board with effect from 15 October 2017. 

(2) Dr Keith Turner retired from the Board with effect from 23 May 2017.  
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9. 2017 Remuneration Outcomes  

The sections below set out the outcomes for our Executives in 2017. Further information about STI and LTI awards are contained in sections 6.1 

and 6.2, and 2017 remuneration outcomes are set out at below. 

 

9.1  STI Awards Reflect Spark Infrastructure Performance 

Spark Infrastructure’s financial performance directly influences the STI received by Executives in two ways: 

1. In order for the financial component of the STI to be awarded, Spark Infrastructure must achieve its Distribution Guidance for 2017 of 

15.25 cps. The Board has declared a Distribution of 15.25 cps for 2017. Accordingly, the Distribution Guidance was achieved; and 

2. Spark Infrastructure’s STI has key STI financial performance measures directly cascading from Spark Infrastructure’s business strategy: 

total distribution financial measures, total look-through OCF/EBITDA financial measures, total TransGrid other financial measures, and 

total Spark Infrastructure controllable costs. 

2017 performance was positive with a number of significant achievements against performance measures: 

Financial Performance  

 Total distributions to Securityholders increased by 5.2% to 15.25cps.  

 Total distribution financial measures from investments was 73% of Target, primarily due to surplus cash in TransGrid being retained by 
the business to fund investment opportunities in unregulated infrastructure connection assets. Alternate funding structures for the 
unregulated business have been agreed and are being put in place, expected to complete in the first half of 2018. 

 Total look-through Operating Cash Flow (“OCF”) was 91% of Target.  

 Aggregated proportional EBITDA increased by 4.5% to $791.5 million.  

 Aggregated proportional unregulated revenue increased by 4.5% to $240.4 million, with TransGrid’s unregulated revenue increasing by 
30.5% to $66.8 million (100% basis). 

 Total TransGrid other financial measures was 67% of Target.   

 Total Spark Infrastructure controllable costs was 73% of Target.   

This resulted in an overall achievement of 78% for financial KPIs for KMP, as set out in the table below which outlines performance against each 
financial KPI. 

FINANCIAL KPI’s LEVEL OF ACHIEVEMENT 

Total distribution financial measures from investments 73% 

Total look-through OCF/EBITDA financial measures 91% 

Total TransGrid other financial measures 67% 

Total Spark Infrastructure controllable costs 73% 

TOTAL FINANCIAL KPI’s 78% 

 

Business Performance 

Operations - Spark Infrastructure portfolio businesses continue to operate in line with Business Plans, meeting or exceeding operation efficiency 
targets, driving cultural change at TransGrid and growth in unregulated business opportunities – at target 

Optimise regulatory outcomes – TransGrid regulatory submission and draft determination in line with Business Plan – at target.  

Stakeholder relations and Special Projects– disciplined bid for Endeavour Energy business, continued engagement with regulators, business 
partners and industry peers – at or above target 
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Organisational Performance 

People, Governance and Process Improvement - Invested in people development and built on team of specialist employees with the 
commencement of Ben Bolot in the role of Chief Investment Officer (from 1 January 2018) and the commencement of Nick Schiffer as CFO on 
17 July 2017. Maintained diversity and flexible working arrangements across Senior Management. Maintained strong risk compliance framework 
– at target 

Government /Regulatory Relations - Spark Infrastructure is an active participant and thought leader in industry and regulatory change – at or 
above target 

The Board assessed the performance of the MD and gave him an overall achievement of 74% against non-financial KPIs.  

The following table shows the actual STI outcomes for each Executive for 2017. The actual STI outcome for Executives is based on a 
combination of the financial performance achieved and assessment of achievement against personal KPIs, producing a blended percentage 
outcome. Half of any STI award is paid in cash and the other half is awarded in Rights. For further detail regarding the STI and the weighting of 
financial and non-financial KPIs for individual KMP, refer to section 6.1. 

EXECUTIVE 

STI MAXIMUM 
OPPORTUNITY % OF 

FIXED 
REMUNERATION 

ACTUAL STI (% 
OF 

OPPORTUNITY) 

STI FORFEITED 
(% OF 

OPPORTUNITY)  
ACTUAL STI  

($) 

ACHIEVEMENT 
OF FINANCIAL 

KPIs 

ACHIEVEMENT 
OF PERSONAL 

KPIs 

Rick Francis 100% 76.4% 23.6% 624,188 78% 74% 

Nicholas Schiffer(1) 80% 73.2% 26.8% 168,360 78% 66% 

Alexandra Finley 70% 73.2% 26.8% 210,084 78% 70% 

(1) Nicholas Schiffer commenced in the role of CFO on 17 July 2017 and was entitled to a pro-rata STI for the part year worked. 

  

Greg Botham ceased employment on 30 April 2017. The Board determined he was to receive a proportion of the cash component of his pro-rata 2017 STI on leaving ($108,000) 

being 75% of Mr Botham’s total possible STI award for 2017 on a pro rata basis, with the remainder of his unvested deferred STI from previous years and unvested LTI entitlements 

to lapse.  

 

9.2 LTI Performance Testing at 31 December 2017 

The LTI Award granted to KMP at 1 January 2014 (FY2014) had a performance period of four years, i.e. ending 31 December 2017. The 
FY2014 LTI Award had one measure, being relative performance measured on risk adjusted TSR basis (Jensen’s Alpha approach) against all 
companies in the S&P ASX 200 index at grant date. The vesting profile was 30% vesting at the 51st percentile increasing up to 100% at the 75th 
percentile – i.e. below the 50th percentile there is no vesting, while vesting is capped at 100% for any result above the 75th percentile. 

The risk adjusted TSR result for the four year period ended 31 December 2017 was that Spark Infrastructure ranked at the 80 th percentile 
against the S&P ASX 200 index. Accordingly, 100% of the FY2014 LTI Award vested at 31 December 2017. The LTI Award will be cash settled 
in March 2018 (NB. LTIs granted in subsequent years will be delivered as Rights). 

The calculation of risk adjusted TSR and of the relative performance against the S&P ASX 200 index was produced by an external expert, 
independent of Management. 

 
9.3 One-off 2016 LTI Transition Payment – Paid 2017 

As previously disclosed in the 2016 Remuneration Report, following independent assessment using the risk-adjusted TSR methodology, the LTI 
Transition Payment for the performance period 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2016 vested in full and was paid in March 2017. The LTI 
Transition Payment was cash settled. Future awards will be awarded in Rights, as set out in section 6.2. Refer the 2016 Financial Statements for 
further disclosure. 
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9.4 Actual Remuneration Received by KMP in 2017 

The following table shows details of the actual remuneration received by Executives in 2017 and 2016. (The amounts in the table differ from the 
Executive statutory remuneration which is set out in section 11.1) Actual remuneration received is provided in addition to the statutory reporting 
of remuneration expense to increase transparency about what the Executive actually received during the year.  

 
9.5 Executive Minimum Securityholding Policy  

From 1 January 2017, the MD is required to hold the equivalent of 100% of Fixed Remuneration in Securities, and is required to do so within a 
three-year period. For other KMP, the requirement is the equivalent of 50% of Fixed Remuneration in Securities within a three-year period.  

For these purposes, Securities include Securities and Rights earned but not yet vested (under the Deferred STI Plan).  

The below table sets out the estimated notional beneficial interests in securities held by Executives as at 31 December 2017:  

 

TOTAL 
SECURITIES/RIGHTS 

VESTED AT 1 
JANUARY 2017 

RIGHTS VESTED AT 
31 DEC 2017(1) (3) 

TOTAL 
SECURITIES/RIGHTS 

VESTED AT 31 
DECEMBER 2017 

UNVESTED RIGHTS AT 
31 DECEMBER 2017(2) (3) 

SECURITIES/RIGHTS AT 
31 DECEMBER 2017 

Rick Francis 116,176 167,770 283,946 186,816 470,762 

Nicholas Schiffer(4) - - - 32,253 32,253 

Alexandra Finley 28,170 53,567 81,737 62,977 144,714 

(1) Rights vested at 31 December 2017 include estimated additional Rights in respect of distribution equivalents applicable to the deferral years.  

(2) Unvested Rights at 31 December 2017 are scheduled to vest in two further tranches on 31 December 2018 and 2019 respectively, in accordance with the terms of the 

Deferred STI Plan (subject only to continuity of employment). 

            (3) The calculations of vested and unvested Rights are pre-tax. 

             (4) Nicholas Schiffer commenced as CFO on 17 July 2017. 

 

 

SHORT-TERM BENEFITS POST-EMPLOYMENT LONG-TERM BENEFITS 

 

TOTAL 
($) 

BASE SALARY 
($) 

STI(1)  
($) 

NON-MONETARY 
($) 

 

SUPERANNUATION 
($)  

 

VESTED LTI(2)                            

($) 
 

EXECUTIVES 

Rick Francis 

2017 792,000 697,012 27,579 25,000 455,000 1,996,591 

2016 792,000 479,092 23,160 25,000 173,253 1,492,505 

Nicholas Schiffer(3) 

2017 218,423 - 5,329 10,024 - 233,776 

2016 - - - - - - 

Alexandra Finley       

2017 390,168 218,352 12,441 19,832 128,765 769,558 

2016 390,538 142,506 10,647 19,462 49,867 613,020 

Greg Botham(3) 

2017 179,143 479,353 2,167 6,539 234,000 901,202 

2016 520,538 257,662 6,500 19,462 80,210 884,372 

(1) The STI received in 2017 represents amounts earned in relation to the individual’s performance from FY2016 (not deferred) and from amounts previously deferred into 
“notional” securities in 2014 and deferred into performance rights in 2015 (both under the deferred STI plan). The STI received in 2016 only represents amounts earned in 
relation to the individual’s performance from FY2015 (not deferred) and from the amount deferred into “notional” securities in 2014 (under the deferred STI plan). 

(2) LTI received in 2017 relates to the 2014 LTI Transition Payment that vested on 31 December 2016. 

(3) Greg Botham ceased as CFO on 30 April 2017 and Nicholas Schiffer commenced in the role on 17 July 2017. 
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10. Non-Executive Director Fees  

10.1 Approach to Non-Executive Director Fees 

Remuneration for NEDs is designed to ensure that Spark Infrastructure can attract and retain suitably qualified and experienced directors. Unlike 

Executive remuneration, fees for NEDs are fixed and not linked to performance. However, all NEDs are expected to hold Securities in Spark 

Infrastructure to reflect alignment with Securityholder interests.  

 

NED fees are reviewed annually utilising external market data or the advice of an independent consulting firm. NED fees take the following 

matters into consideration:  

 the Board Chair’s fee is inclusive of the committee membership fee and is presented as one figure; 

 the Board takes into account the relative workloads of committees in setting the fees applicable to committee chairs and committee 

members; 

 members of Board committees shall be eligible to receive a committee membership fee in addition to the base NED fee; and 

 NEDs may be appointed to special purpose committees established from time to time. NEDs who are members of special purpose 

committees may receive a one-off committee membership fee in addition to their other fees (for regular Board duties) to recognise the significant 

additional workload. Special purpose committee membership fees are determined by the Board. 

In 2017, the Board established a Due Diligence Committee for the purposes of the bid for the Endeavour Energy business. The Due Diligence 

Committee (DDC) comprised Greg Martin (Chair), Andrew Fay, Karen Penrose and Keith Turner.   

 

10.2 Schedule of Fees 

The schedule of fees for NEDs during 2017 is set out in the table below. 
 

ROLE 

2017 AND 
2016 FEE(1) 

($) 

Board Chair 296,750(2) 

Non-Executive Director 127,000 

Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee (ARC) Chair 39,000 

Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee member 19,500 

Remuneration Committee (REMCO) Chair 33,500 

Remuneration Committee member 16,750 

(1) There were no increases to NED fees in 2017. Following benchmarking of NED fees, the Board has determined that a CPI increase 
of 2% in 2018 is appropriate.  

(2) The Board Chair fee is inclusive of all fees for committee memberships or attendance. 

Except for the payment of statutory superannuation entitlements (where applicable), NEDs do not receive any other post-employment benefits. 
The fees above include any allowances for statutory superannuation entitlements. 

The aggregate fee limit for NEDs approved by Securityholders is $2 million, and is unchanged from 2015. There will be no change to the 
aggregate fee limit for 2018. 
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10.3 Actual Remuneration of Spark Infrastructure NEDs  

The annual fees payable to NEDs (inclusive of statutory superannuation) for 2017 and 2016 were: 
 

(1) Contributions to personal superannuation on behalf of NEDs are deducted from their overall fee entitlements. 

(2) Dr McTaggart was elected as Chair of the Board on 20 May 2016 on the retirement of Mr Scullin. 2016 fees for Dr McTaggart reflect approximately 5 months as a director and 7 
months as Chair.  

(3) 2017 fees for Mr Fay, Mr Martin, Ms Penrose and Dr Turner are inclusive of the $3,200 per meeting payment received as members of the Due Diligence Committee. 

(4) Mr Martin was appointed on 1 January 2017, Ms McLoughlin retired on 15 October 2017, Dr Turner retired on 23 May 2017 (2016: Mr Scullin retired on 20 May 2016). The 
amounts included for Mr Martin, Ms McLoughlin, Dr Turner and Mr Scullin represent payments made or payable relating to the period during which they were NEDs. 

 

10.4 NED fees from other entities  

Where it is deemed appropriate for Spark Infrastructure to nominate NEDs for appointment as directors of the Boards of investment portfolio 
companies, those NEDs are entitled to receive fees in that capacity from those portfolio companies. Those directors have separate corporate 
responsibilities to each company of which they are a director. The directors’ duties they owe to the investment companies are separate and 
distinct from their responsibilities as NEDs of Spark Infrastructure. Fees received in their capacity as directors on such Boards are to 
compensate for those separate additional responsibilities. Those fees are determined and paid for by the investment portfolio company, not by 
Spark Infrastructure. The following Spark Infrastructure NEDs were directors on boards and committees of investment portfolio companies 
during 2017. 

  YEAR 

SHORT-TERM BENEFITS TOTAL 

(Inclusive of 
Superannuation) 

($) 

POST-EMPLOYMENT 

DIRECTOR 
FEES 

($) 

 

ARC FEES 

($) 

 

REMCO FEES 

($) 

 

DDC FEES 

($) 

SUPERANNUATION 
CONTRIBUTION(1) 

($) 

Current Non-Executive Directors       

Douglas McTaggart(2) 2017 296,750 - - - 296,750 19,832 

2016 230,449 - - - 230,449 16,837 

Andrew Fay(3) 2017 127,000 19,500 - 22,400 168,900 14,653 

2016 127,000 19,500 - - 146,500 12,710 

Greg Martin(3)(4) 2017 127,000 - 3,368 22,400 152,768 13,254 

 2016 - - - - - - 

Anne McDonald 2017 127,000 29,250 25,125 - 181,375 15,736 

2016 127,000 39,000 16,750 - 182,750 15,855 

Karen Penrose(3) 2017 127,000 29,250 - 22,400 178,650 15,499 

2016 127,000 19,500 - - 146,500 12,710 

Retired Non-Executive Directors       

Christine McLoughlin(4) 2017 100,469 - 21,626 - 122,095 10,593 

 2016 127,000 - 33,500 - 160,500 13,925 

Keith Turner(3)(4) 2017 50,242 - 6,626 22,400 79,268 - 

2016 127,000 - 16,750 - 143,750 - 

Brian Scullin(4) 2017 - - - - - - 

2016 108,356 - 6,482 - 114,838 8,354 

TOTAL 2017 955,461 78,000 56,745 89,600 1,179,806 89,567 

2016 973,805 78,000 73,482 - 1,125,287 80,391 
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Victoria Power Networks  

Board Member Annual 
Fee 

Audit 
Committee  

Annual 
Fee  

Risk 
Committee  

Annual 
Fee 

Remuneration Committee Annual 
Fee 

Total Fees 
Received for 2017 

Anne McDonald $75,000 Chair $15,000 Member  $10,000 Member (from December 2017) $10,000 $100,833 

Andrew Fay 
(resigned 
September 2017) 

$75,000 - - - - Member (to September 2017) $10,000 $63,750 

Keith Turner  

(Spark Infrastructure 
NED to May 2017) 

$75,000 - - - - - - $31,250 

 

SA Power Networks  

Board Member Annual 
Fee 

Audit 
Committee  

Annual 
Fee 

Risk 
Committee  

Annual 
Fee 

Remuneration Committee Annual 
Fee 

Total Fees 
Received for 2017 

Andrew Fay $75,000 Chair $15,000 Member  $10,000 Member  $10,000 $110,000 

Keith Turner  

(Spark Infrastructure 
NED to May 2017) 

$75,000 - - - - - - $31,250 

 

TransGrid  

Board Member Annual 
Fee 

Environmental Health 
and Safety Committee 

Annual 
Fee 

Total Fees 
Received for 2017 

Keith Turner  

(Spark Infrastructure NED to May 
2017) 

$90,000 Chair  $7,500 $40,625 

 

Note the Spark Infrastructure MD and CFO were both directors on the SA Power Networks and Victoria Power Networks boards in 2017. 
However, all board and committee fees received for their services were paid to Spark Infrastructure.  
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11. Statutory Remuneration Disclosures 

11.1 Executive statutory remuneration (for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016) 

The following table shows the statutory total remuneration required to be disclosed for Executives in 2017 and 2016. These disclosures are calculated in accordance with the accounting 
standards and will therefore differ from the information presented in the 2017 actual remuneration received table in section 9.4 as the remuneration in the form of equity (deferred STI and LTI) in 
this section is based on the amount expensed by the company over the vesting period, rather than the amount delivered or received by the executive in the relevant year. 

 

 

YEAR 

SHORT-TERM BENEFITS 
POST-

EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS BASED ON SECURITIES  

TOTAL 

($) 
CASH SALARY 

($) 
STI - CASH 

($) 

NON-MONETARY  

BENEFITS(1) 
($) 

SUPERANNUATION 
($) 

DEFERRED 
STI - RIGHTS(2) 

($) 
LTI  
($) 

LTI 
TRANSITION 

EXPENSE 
($)  

Rick Francis 2017 792,000 312,094 27,579 25,000 366,417 487,423 - 2,010,513 

2016 792,000 382,615 23,160 25,000 270,774 403,919 210,000 2,107,468 

Nicholas Schiffer(3) 2017 218,423 84,180 5,329 10,024 35,020 33,748 - 386,724 

2016 - - - - - - - - 

Alexandra Finley 2017 390,168 105,042 12,441 19,832 120,611 117,921 - 766,015 

2016 390,538 124,679 10,647 19,462 85,556 99,482 59,430 789,794 

Greg Botham(4) 2017 179,143 108,000 2,167 6,539 (129,577) (289,505) - (123,233) 

 
2016 520,538 206,170 6,500 19,462 148,479 171,024 108,000 1,180,173 

TOTAL 2017 1,579,734 609,316 47,516 61,395 392,471 349,587 - 3,040,019 

2016 1,703,076 713,464 40,307 63,924 504,809 674,425 377,430 4,077,435 

(1) Non-monetary benefits include life and income protection insurances and any other incidental benefits.     

(2) Represents the component of the STI that is deferred in Rights. 

(3) Nicholas Schiffer commenced as CFO on 17 July 2017. His 2017 STI and LTI opportunities were pro-rated for his service period in 2017. 

(4) Greg Botham ceased as CFO on 30 April 2017 and all his unvested rights lapsed on termination, resulting in a reversal of previously expensed deferred STI of $129,577 and LTI expense of $289,505.  
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11.2 Deferred STI at 31 December 2017 

STI deferral was first applied to STI awards granted in respect of FY2014, and has continued to be applied to later grants. Since 2015, the 
deferred component has been delivered in the form of Rights. Refer to prior year Remuneration Reports and section 6.1 for detail regarding 
deferred STI, including the relevant KPIs and other vesting conditions. The minimum value of the grant is nil if the vesting conditions are not 
met.  The maximum value is based on the estimated fair value calculated at the time of the grant, amortised in accordance with the accounting 
standard requirements. 

Shown below are the number of outstanding Rights received under the deferred STI arrangements for 2015, 2016 and 2017, the year in which 
the Rights may vest, and the expense recognised.  

 

AT 31 DECEMBER 2016 

DEFERRED 
STI  

GRANT DATE 

 

 

FINANCIAL 
YEAR 

DEFERRED 
STI  

RELATES TO 

NUMBER OF 
RIGHTS  

GRANTED 
(NO.) 

OPENING 
VWAP AT 

GRANT DATE 
($) 

AMOUNT 
PAYABLE / 

FAIR VALUE 

($) 

DEFERRED 
STI 

EXPENSE 
IN 2017 

($) VESTING DATE 

Rick Francis 

 

 

 

 

TOTAL 

1 January 2016 2015 87,292 1.92 167,601 109,945 31 December 2017 

1 January 2017 2016 67,240 2.26 151,962 75,981 31 December 2017 

1 January 2017 2016 67,240 2.26 101,308 50,654 31 December 2018 

1 January 2018 2017 59,788 2.61 77,916 77,916 31 December 2018 

1 January 2018 2017 59,788 2.61 51,921 51,921 31 December 2019 

  341,348  550,708 366,417  

Nicholas Schiffer(1) 

 

TOTAL 

1 January 2018 2017 16,126 2.61 21,016 21,016 31 December 2018 

1 January 2018 2017 16,126 2.61 14,004 14,004 31 December 2019 

  32,252  35,020 35,020  

Alexandra Finley 

 

 

 

 

TOTAL 

1 January 2016 2015 26,667 1.92 51,201 34,102 31 December 2017 

1 January 2017 2016 22,731 2.26 51,372 25,686 31 December 2017 

1 January 2017 2016 22,731 2.26 34,248 17,124 31 December 2018 

1 January 2018 2017 20,123 2.61 26,224 26,224 31 December 2018 

1 January 2018 2017 20,123 2.61 17,475 17,475 31 December 2019 

  112,375  180,520 120,674  

 

 

 

 

(1) Nicholas Schiffer commenced in the role of CFO in July 2017. 
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11.3 LTI at 31 December 2017 

The table below shows details for the grants made under the LTI plan which are yet to vest, including the number of instruments granted, the 
years in which they may vest, and the fair value recognised. From 2015, grants of Rights were made under the LTI plan. The 2014 LTI awards 
were delivered as ‘Notional Reference Securities’ under the former cash-based “phantom” security plan, and will be settled in cash. 

Accounting standards require the estimated valuation of the grants recognised over the performance period. The minimum value of the grant is 
nil if the vesting conditions are not met. The maximum value is based on the estimated fair value calculated at the time of the grant, amortised 
in accordance with the accounting standard requirements. Refer to prior year Remuneration Reports and section 6.2 for detail regarding LTI, 
including the relevant performance measures and other vesting conditions.  

 

 GRANT DATE 

NUMBER OF 
RIGHTS / 

REFERENCE 
SECURITIES 
GRANTED 

(NO.) 

OPENING 
VWAP / 

FAIR 
VALUE AT 

GRANT 
DATE 

 
($/cps) 

NOTIONAL 
TSR 

ACHIEVEMENT  

(%) 

CLOSING 
VWAP 

($/cps) 

AMOUNT 
PAYABLE / 

FAIR 
VALUE AT 

GRANT 
DATE 

($) 

LTI 
EXPENSE 

IN 2017 

($) VESTING DATE 

Rick Francis 1 January 2014(1) 220,126 1.59 100% 2.61 687,068 234,159 31 December 2017 

1 January 2015(2) 198,985 1.70 N/A N/A 338,275 64,090 31 December 2018 

1 January 2016(2) 276,589 1.08 N/A N/A 298,716 65,517 31 December 2019 

1 January 2017(2) 234,978 2.11 N/A N/A 494,629 123,657 31 December 2020 

TOTAL 487,423  

Nicholas Schiffer(3) 1 January 2017(2) 64,129 2.11 N/A N/A 134,992 33,748 31 December 2020 

TOTAL 33,748  

Alexandra Finley 1 January 2014(1) 53,396 1.59 100% 2.61 166,662 56,800 31 December 2017 

1 January 2015(2) 53,729 1.70 N/A N/A 91,339 17,305 31 December 2018 

1 January 2016(2) 64,063 1.08 N/A N/A 69,188 15,175 31 December 2019 

1 January 2017(2) 54,425 2.11 N/A N/A 114,565 28,641 31 December 2020 

TOTAL 117,921  

(1) For the 2014 LTI award, a liability was measured initially at fair value, calculated using the opening VWAP at the grant date.  At the end of each reporting period 
until the liability is settled, and at the date of settlement, the fair value of the liability is remeasured using the closing VWAP as at that date, with any changes in 
fair value recognised as an expense (or gain) in the profit or loss for the period. 

(2) For the 2015 LTI award onwards, a liability is measured at the fair value of the Rights at the grant date. The fair value determined at the grant date is expensed 
on a straight-line basis in the profit or loss over the vesting period, there is no subsequent re-measurement of fair value until the date of settlement.   

(3) Nicholas Schiffer commenced in the role of CFO in July 2017. His 2017 LTI was granted on a pro-rata basis from his commencement date.   
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11.4 Movements in Rights during 2017 

The movement in the number of Rights in relation to Deferred STI and LTI held by Executives during the year is set out below. 

 

BALANCE 
AT  

1 JANUARY 
2017 
(NO.) 

GRANTED AS 
REMUNERATION 

(NO.) 

VALUE OF 
RIGHTS 

GRANTED(1)  
($) 

VESTED 
(NO.) 

EXERCIS
ED 

(NO.) 

VALUE OF 
RIGHTS 
VESTED/ 

EXERCISED 
($) 

LAPSED 
(NO.) 

NET 
OTHER 
MOVE
MENTS 
(NO.) 

BALANCE 
AT  

31 
DECEMBER 

2017 
(NO.) 

Rick Francis 650,158 369,458 747,899 87,292 - 215,827 - - 932,324 

Nicholas 
Schiffer(2) 

- 64,129 134,992 - - - - - 64,129 

Alexandra Finley 171,126 99,887 200,185 26,667 - 66,199 - - 244,346 

Greg Botham(2) 318,443 - - 47,513 - 113,675 (270,930) - - 

TOTAL 1,139,727 533,474 1,083,076 161,472 - 395,701 (270,930) - 1,240,799 

(1) The fair value of LTI Rights granted to Executives on 1 January 2017 is set out in the table at 11.3 and the fair value of STI Rights is set out in the table at 11.2.  

(2) Nicholas Schiffer commenced as CFO in July 2017. 

(3) Greg Botham ceased as CFO on 30 April 2017. The first tranche of his Deferred STI in relation to the 2015 year vested on 31 December 2016 and was paid 
out in cash in 2017. All other unvested rights in relation to Deferred STI and LTI lapsed on termination. 

 

 
11.5 Equity instrument disclosures relating to Executives 

The table below details the Spark Infrastructure stapled securities in which Executives held direct relevant interests during 2017: 

 

OPENING 
BALANCE 

1 
JANUARY 

2017 
(NO.) 

NET 
MOVEMENT 
ACQUIRED / 
(DISPOSED) 

(NO.) 

CLOSING 
BALANCE 

31 
DECEMBER 

2017 
(NO.) 

Rick Francis 23,942 92,234 116,176 

Nicholas Schiffer(1) - - - 

Alexandra Finley - 28,170 28,170 
(1) Nicholas Schiffer commenced as CFO on 17 July 2017. 

The calculation of Securities under the Executive Minimum Securityholding Policy includes interests in vested and unvested Rights under the 
Deferred STI Plan. The table at section 9.5 shows the beneficial interests in Securities, vested Rights and earned but not yet vested Rights 
held by Executives as at 31 December 2017.  
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11.6 Equity instrument disclosures relating to Non-Executive Directors 

The relevant interest of each NED of Spark Infrastructure for 2017 is as follows:  

 
OPENING BALANCE 1 

JANUARY 2017 
(NO.) 

NET MOVEMENT 
ACQUIRED / 
(DISPOSED) 

(NO.) 

CLOSING BALANCE 31 
DECEMBER 2017 

(NO.) 

Douglas McTaggart 120,000 15,000 135,000 

Andrew Fay 188,590 - 188,590 

Greg Martin(1) - 50,000 50,000 

Anne McDonald 61,000 10,000 71,000 

Karen Penrose 50,000 - 50,000 

Retired Directors:    

Christine McLoughlin(1) 66,766 - - 

Keith Turner(1) 75,706 - - 
(1) Mr Martin was appointed on 1 January 2017, Ms McLoughlin retired on 15 October 2017 and Dr Turner retired on 23 May 2017.    

Spark Infrastructure has a minimum Securityholding requirement with effect from 1 January 2017, whereby NEDs must hold the equivalent of 
one year’s director’s fees (assessed at the later of 1 January 2017 or the date of appointment), and will be required to do so within a period of 
three years. The Securityholding requirement will apply throughout tenure of directorship. 
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Statutory Declarations 
Attendance at Directors’ Meetings  
 
The following table sets out the number of Directors’ meetings held during 2017 and the number of meetings attended by each Director which 
they were eligible to attend (that is, in the case of Directors, while they were appointed and provided they were not disqualified from attending 
because of observation of processes to guard against any perceived conflict of interest).  
 
During 2017, 12 Board meetings, five Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee (“ARC”) meetings, two Remuneration Committee (“RemCo”) 
meetings, nine Investment Sub-committee meetings and one Special Purpose Sub-committee meeting of the company were held. References to 
meetings “Held” means the number of meetings a Director was eligible to attend. 

 

 Board of 
Directors 

ARC RemCo Investment  
Sub-Co 

Sub-Co 

  
Held 

 
Attended 

 
Held 

 
Attended 

 
Held 

 
Attended 

 
Held 

 
Attended 

 
Held 

 
Attended 

Dr Douglas McTaggart 12 12 - - 2 2 - - - - 

Mr Rick Francis  12 12 - - - - - - - - 

Mr Andrew Fay  12 12 5 5 - - 9 9 1 1 

Mr Greg Martin 12 12 - - 1 1 9 9 - - 

Ms Anne McDonald 12 11 5 4 2 2 - - - - 

Ms Christine McLoughlin 11 10 - - 1 1 - - - - 

Ms Karen Penrose 12 12 5 5 - - 9 9 1 1 

Dr Keith Turner 9 9 - - 1 1 9 9 - - 

By agreement with the committee chairs, there is a standing invitation for all Directors to attend committee meetings.  During 2017, Directors 
attended a number of committee meetings.   

 
Indemnification of Officers and Auditors 
 
The Directors and former Directors of Spark RE and the officers of Spark RE are indemnified under Spark RE’s constitution against all liabilities 
to another person that may arise from their position as Directors or officers of Spark RE subject to the limitations imposed by the Corporations 
Act 2001. 
 
During 2017, the Trust paid a premium in respect of a contract of insurance indemnifying the Directors against a liability incurred as a Director to 
the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.  The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of 
the premium. 
 
The entities have not otherwise, during or since the end of 2017, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the Trust or of any 
related body corporate against a liability incurred as an officer or auditor, except to the extent permitted by law. 
 
Non-Audit Services  
 
Details of amounts paid or payable to the external auditor for non-audit services provided during 2017 are outlined in Note 13 to the financial 
statements. 
 
The Directors are satisfied that the non-audit services provided by the auditor are compatible with the general standard of independence for 
auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.  The Directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in Note 13 to the financial 
statements do not compromise the external auditor’s independence, based on advice received from the ARC, for the following reasons: 

 non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor, and 
comply with Spark Infrastructure’s policy on auditor independence; and  

 none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in Code of Conduct APES 110, Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board, which includes reviewing 
or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision-making capacity, acting as an advocate or jointly sharing 
economic risks and rewards of Spark Infrastructure. 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2017 
 

 
 

Notes 

 Year Ended 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000  

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2016 

$’000 

Income from associates:      

­ Share of equity accounted profits 6(c)  200,448  145,290 

­ Interest income 3(a)  82,690  91,623 

   283,138  236,913 
      

Gain on derivative contracts   -  5,772 

Other income – interest   1,861  1,230 

   284,999  243,915 

Interest expense (including borrowing costs) 3(b)  (2,242)  (4,554) 

General and administrative expenses  3(c)  (16,953)  (13,545) 

      

Profit before Income Tax and Loan Note Interest   265,804  225,816 

Loan Note interest    (118,582)  (118,582) 

      

Profit before Income Tax    147,222  107,234 

Income tax expense 4(a)  (58,581)  (26,151) 

Net Profit after Income Tax Attributable to Securityholders   88,641  81,083 

      

Other Comprehensive Income:      

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:      

­ Share of associates’ actuarial gain on defined benefit plans 12  6,776  5,891 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:      

­ Share of associates’ losses on hedges 11  (31,027)  (2,050) 

Income tax benefit/(expense) related to components of other  
comprehensive income   6,020  (700) 

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the Financial Year   (18,231)  3,141 

Total Comprehensive Income for the Financial Year Attributable to 
Securityholders   70,410  84,224 

      
Earnings per Security      

Weighted average number of stapled securities (No.’000) 14  1,682,011  1,682,011 

      

Profit before income tax and Loan Note interest ($’000)   265,804  225,816 

Basic earnings per security before income tax and Loan Note interest 
(cents) 14  15.80¢  13.43¢ 

Earnings used to calculate earnings per security ($’000)   88,641  81,083 

Basic earnings per security based on net profit after income tax 
attributable to Securityholders (cents) 14  5.27¢  4.82¢ 

(Diluted earnings per security are the same as basic earnings per security).   

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 51 – 83. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
as at 31 December 2017 
 

 
Notes  

31 Dec 2017 
$’000  

31 Dec 2016 
$’000 

Current Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 21(a)  117,289  100,985 

Receivables from associates  5  9,197  8,512 

Other current assets   1,891  2,154 

Total Current Assets   128,377  111,651 

      

Non-Current Assets      

Property, plant and equipment   699  126 

Investments in associates:      

­ Investments accounted for using the equity method 6(d)  2,550,342  2,494,712 

­ Loans to associates 7  598,837  680,627 

­ Loan notes to associates 8  237,444  237,444 

Total Non-Current Assets   3,387,322  3,412,909 

Total Assets   3,515,699  3,524,560 

      

Current Liabilities      

Payables    3,509  3,448 

Loan Note interest payable to Securityholders   59,711  59,711 

Total Current Liabilities   63,220  63,159 

      

Non-Current Liabilities      

Payables   232  1,226 

Loan Notes attributable to Securityholders 9  1,061,744  1,061,724 

Deferred tax liabilities   4(c)  313,739  261,167 

Total Non-Current Liabilities   1,375,715  1,324,117 

Total Liabilities   1,438,935  1,387,276 

Net Assets   2,076,764  2,137,284 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued) 
as at 31 December 2017 
 

 Notes  
31 Dec 2017 

$’000  
31 Dec 2016 

$’000 

Equity      

Equity attributable to Parent Entity:      

­ Issued capital 10  1,067,502  1,199,119 

­ Reserves 11  (40,911)  (18,231) 

­ Retained earnings 12  1,050,173  956,396 

Total Equity   2,076,764  2,137,284 

      

Total Equity attributable to Securityholders is as follows:      

Total Equity   2,076,764  2,137,284 

Loan Notes attributable to Securityholders   1,061,744  1,061,724 

Total Equity and Loan Notes   3,138,508  3,199,008 

 
Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 51 – 83. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2017 

 
 
 

Issued 
Capital 

Reserves Retained 
Earnings Total 

 Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

2016 
 
Balance at 1 January 2016 

 

1,303,404 (17,404) 870,355 2,156,355 

Net profit after income tax for the year  - - 81,083 81,083 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax 11,12 - (1,817) 4,958 3,141 

Total comprehensive income for the year 
 

- (1,817) 86,041 84,224 

Recognition of share-based payments 11 - 990 - 990 

Capital distributions 10 (104,285) - - (104,285) 

Balance at 31 December 2016  1,199,119 (18,231) 956,396 2,137,284 

 
 

    
 
2017 
 

 
    

Balance at 1 January 2017  1,199,119 (18,231) 956,396 2,137,284 

Net profit after income tax for the year  - - 88,641 88,641 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax 11,12 - (23,367) 5,136 (18,231) 

Total comprehensive income for the year 
 

- (23,367) 93,777 70,410 

Recognition of share-based payments 11 - 687 - 687 

Capital distributions 10 (131,617) - - (131,617) 

Balance at 31 December 2017 
 

1,067,502 (40,911) 1,050,173 2,076,764 

 
Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 51 – 83. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2017 

 
  
Notes  

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000  

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2016 

$’000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities      

Distributions from associates – preferred partnership capital 2  69,635  69,826 

Distributions from associates – other 2  50,931  79,848 

Interest received from associates 2  82,004  93,689 

Interest received – other   1,871  1,061 

Interest paid – other    (1,385)  (4,375) 

Distributions received from derivative contracts   -  22,952 

Finance costs paid on derivative contracts   -  (7,743) 

Other expenses 2  (17,302)  (14,608) 

Net Cash Inflow Related to Operating Activities 21(c)  185,754  240,650 

      

Cash Flows from Investing Activities      

Repayment of borrowings by associate 2  81,790  64,974 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (706)  - 

Proceeds from divestment of derivative contracts   -  210,708 

Transaction costs paid on derivative contracts   -  (4,031) 

Net Cash Inflow Related to Investing Activities   81,084  271,651 

      

Cash Flows from Financing Activities      

Payment of issue costs   -  (1,733) 

Payment of external borrowing costs   (335)  - 

Drawdown of external borrowings   -  15,000 

Repayment of external borrowings   -  (220,000) 

Distributions to Securityholders:      

­ Loan Note interest   (118,582)  (118,582) 

­ Capital distributions   (131,617)  (104,285) 

Net Cash Outflow Related to Financing Activities   (250,534)  (429,600) 

 
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents for the Year   16,304  82,701 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the Year   100,985  18,284 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at end of the Year 21(a)  117,289  100,985 

 
Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 51 – 83. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2017 
 
1.  Summary of Accounting Policies 
 
Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance  
 
These consolidated financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and comply with other requirements of the law. 
 
Accounting standards include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (“A-IFRS”). Compliance with A-IFRS 
ensures that these consolidated financial statements and notes of the Trust and the Group comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) for a for profit entity.  
 
These consolidated financial statements are for the consolidated entity (“Spark Infrastructure”) consisting of Spark Infrastructure Trust (the 
“Parent Entity” or the “Trust”) and its controlled entities (collectively referred to as the “Group”).   
 
Information in respect of the Parent Entity in this financial report relates to the Trust.  The financial information for the Parent Entity, disclosed 
in Note 23, has been prepared on the same basis as the financial statements for the Group. 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the revaluation of certain financial 
instruments. Cost is based on the fair values of consideration given in exchange for assets.  All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, 
unless otherwise noted. 
 
The financial report was authorised for issue by the Directors of Spark Infrastructure RE Limited (“Spark RE” or the “Company”) on 23 February 
2017. 
 
New and Revised Standards and Interpretations 
 
Standards and Interpretations Affecting Amounts Reported in the Year Ended 31 December 2017 (“Current Year” or “Financial Year”) 

The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in the Current Year.  Their adoption has not had any 
significant impact on the amounts reported in this financial report but may affect the accounting for future transactions or arrangements. 
 
Adoption of New and Revised Standards  
 

New and Revised Standard Requirements  

AASB 2016-1 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – 
Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for 
Unrealised Losses 

Amends AASB 112 Income Taxes to clarify:  

- unrealised losses on debt instruments measured at fair value and measured at cost for tax 
purposes give rise to a deductible temporary difference regardless of whether the debt 
instrument's holder expects to recover the carrying amount of the debt instrument by sale or by 
use;  

- the carrying amount of an asset does not limit the estimation of probable future taxable profits  
- estimates for future taxable profits exclude tax deductions resulting from the reversal of 

deductible temporary differences  
- an entity assesses a deferred tax asset in combination with other deferred tax assets. Where tax 

law restricts the utilisation of tax losses, an entity would assess a deferred tax asset in 
combination with other deferred tax assets of the same type. 

AASB 2016-2 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – 
Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to 
AASB 107 

Amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows to require entities preparing financial statements in 
accordance with Tier 1 reporting requirements to provide disclosures that enable users of financial 
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes 
arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. 

AASB 2017-2 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – 
Further Annual Improvements 2014-
2016 

Amends AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, to clarify the interaction of AASB 12 with 
AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations to explain that disclosures 
under AASB 12 are required for interests in entities classified as held for sale or discontinued 
operations in accordance with AASB 5. 
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1.  Summary of Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Adoption of New and Revised Standards (continued) 
 

New and Revised Standard Requirements  

AASB 2016-5 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards - 
Classification and Measurement of 
Share-based Payment Transactions 

The amendments clarify the following:  

In estimating the fair value of a cash-settled share-based payment, the accounting for the effects of 
vesting and non-vesting conditions should follow the same approach as for equity-settled share-
based payments.  

Where tax law or regulation requires an entity to withhold a specified number of equity instruments 
equal to the monetary value of the employee’s tax obligation to meet the employee’s tax liability 
which is then remitted to the tax authority i.e. the share-based payment arrangement has a ‘net 
settlement feature’, such an arrangement should be classified as equity-settled in its entirety, 
provided that the share-based payment would have been classified as equity-settled had it not 
included the net settlement feature.  

A modification of a share-based payment that changes the transaction from cash-settled to equity-
settled should be accounted for as follows: 
- the original liability is derecognised  
- the equity-settled share-based payment is recognised at the modification date fair value of the 
equity instrument granted to the extent that services have been rendered up to the modification date 
- any difference between the carrying amount of the liability at the modification date and the amount 
recognised in equity should be recognised in profit or loss immediately.  

 
Standards and Interpretations in Issue Not Yet Adopted 

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the following Standards and Interpretations relevant to Spark Infrastructure were in issue but 
not yet effective: 

 

Standard/Interpretation 

 

Effective for the 
Annual Reporting 

Period Beginning on 

Expected to be Initially 
Applied in the 

Financial Year Ending 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 2014-5 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15 

AASB 15 establishes a single model for accounting for revenue arising from contracts with 
customers and supersedes the current revenue standards AASB 118 Revenue and AASB 111 
Construction Contracts. Under AASB 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a 
performance obligation is satisfied.  

The Directors anticipate the that adoption of AASB 15 will not have a direct impact on the 
financial report of the Group in the year of initial application. 

The adoption of AASB 15 by Spark Infrastructure’s portfolio businesses may have an impact on 
revenue recognition, and as a consequence, Spark Infrastructure’s share of equity accounted 
profits.  The portfolio businesses are currently conducting assessments of the impact of the 
new standard.  Based on a preliminary analysis, it is currently expected that the adoption of 
AASB 15 will not have a material impact on the amounts reported and disclosures made in the 
portfolio businesses accounts. 

1 January 2018 31 December 2018 
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1. Summary of Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Standards and Interpretations in Issue Not Yet Adopted (continued) 

 

Standard/Interpretation 

 

Effective for the 
Annual Reporting 

Period Beginning on 

Expected to be Initially 
Applied in the 

Financial Year Ending 

AASB 16 Leases 

AASB 16 primarily impacts the accounting for leases for a lessee by introducing non-financial 
assets and liabilities reflecting the committed lease terms.  

Spark Infrastructure currently holds one lease relating to its office premises, which is being 
accounted for as an operating lease and will be brought onto the balance sheet under AASB 
16.  However, the Directors anticipate the that adoption of AASB 16 will not have a material 
impact on the financial report of the Group in the year of initial application.  

The adoption of AASB 16 by Spark Infrastructure’s portfolio businesses may have an impact on 
profit or loss, and as a consequence, Spark Infrastructure’s share of equity accounted profits.  
However, at this stage, it is not expected that the adoption of AASB 16 will have a material 
impact on Spark Infrastructure’s equity accounted profits.   

 

1 January 2019 31 December 2019 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2014) and AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9’ (December 2014) 

AASB 9 (2014) introduces additional requirements in addition to the early adopted AASB 9 
(2010), including a new expected credit loss model which involves a three-stage approach 
whereby financial assets move through the three stages as their credit quality changes. The 
stage dictates how an entity measures impairment losses and applies the effective interest rate 
method. A simplified approach is permitted for financial assets that do not have a significant 
financing component.  

The Directors anticipate the that adoption of AASB 9 (2014) will not have a material impact on 
the financial report of the Group in the year of initial application. 

1 January 2018 31 December 2018 

AASB 2017-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Long-term Interests in 
Associates and Joint Ventures 
 

Clarifies that an entity applies AASB 9 Financial Instruments to financial instruments in an 
associate or joint venture to which the equity method is not applied. These include long-term 
interests that, in substance, form part of the entity’s net investment in an associate or joint 
venture.  

An entity applies AASB 9 to such long-term interests before it considers whether to discontinue 
the recognition of losses (where its share of losses equals or exceeds its interest in an 
associate or joint venture) and impairment. In applying AASB 9, the entity does not take 
account of any adjustments to the carrying amount of long-term interests that arise from 
applying AASB 128 Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures.  

The Directors anticipate the that adoption of AASB 2017-7 will not have a material impact on 
the financial report of the Group in the year of initial application. 

1 January 2019 31 December 2019 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 

The Directors anticipate the that adoption of IFRS 17 will not have a material impact on the 
financial report of the Group in the year of initial application. 

1 January 2021 31 December 2021 
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2. Summary of Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

Significant Accounting Policies 
 

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of this report: 
 

(a) Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance 
 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for certain financial instruments that are 
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period.  Cost is based on the fair values of consideration given in exchange for assets.  
All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted.  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is 
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. 
 
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the 
inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which 
are described as follows: 
 
  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the 

measurement date; 
  Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 

or indirectly; and 
  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

 
(b) Basis of Consolidation 

 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Trust and its controlled entities as at 31 December 2017. 
Control is achieved where the Trust has power over the investee; is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee; and has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. Where control of an entity is obtained during the financial period, its 
results are included in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income from the effective date of control. 
 
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses within the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

 
(c) Acquisition of Assets 

 
The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets. Cost is determined as the fair value of the assets given up, equity 
issued or liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition plus incidental costs directly attributable to the acquisition.  

 
(d) Borrowings 
 
Borrowings are recorded initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings are measured at 
amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being recognised in profit and loss 
over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest rate method. 

 
(e) Borrowing Costs 

 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets which are assets that necessarily take a 
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised and added to the cost of these assets, until such time 
that the assets are ready for their intended use or sale. 
 
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit and loss in the period in which they are incurred. 

 
(f) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in banks and investments in money market instruments. 

  
(g) Creditors and Accruals 

 
Trade creditors and accruals are recognised when there is an obligation to make future payments resulting from the purchase of goods 
and services. 
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3. Summary of Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
(h) Financial Instruments  

 
Financial instruments are recognised when Spark Infrastructure becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 
Derivative Financial Instruments 

 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when Spark Infrastructure becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value.  Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial 
assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.  Transaction costs directly attributable to 
all other financial assets and liabilities adjust the fair value of the financial asset or liability on initial recognition.  
 
Financial Assets/Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 
 
Financial assets/liabilities are classified as at fair value through profit or loss when the financial asset/liability is either held for trading or it 
is designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
A financial asset/liability may be designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition if: 
 
  such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or 
  the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its performance is 

evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group's documented risk management or investment strategy, and 
information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or 

  it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and AASB 9 Financial Instruments permits the entire 
combined contract to be designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on 
remeasurement, at each reporting date, recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any 
dividend, interest earned or interest liabilities on the financial asset or financial liability and is included in the ‘gain on derivative contracts’ 
line item.  
 
Derivative financial instruments that are not designated and effective as hedging instruments are classified as held for trading. 
 
Spark Infrastructure derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, its obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The 
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit 
or loss. 
 
Derecognition of Financial Assets/Liabilities 
 
Spark Infrastructure derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers 
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.  On derecognition of a financial 
asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the 
cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Transaction Costs on the Issue of Stapled Securities (including Loan Notes) 
 
Transaction costs arising on the issue of stapled securities (including Loan Notes) are recognised directly in either debt or equity as a 
reduction of the proceeds of the stapled securities (including Loan Notes) to which the costs relate. Transaction costs are the costs that 
are incurred directly in connection with the issue of those stapled securities and which would not have been incurred had those stapled 
securities (including Loan Notes) not been issued. 
 
Interest, Dividends and Distributions 
 
Interest, dividends and distributions are classified as expenses, distributions of profit or a return of capital consistent with the Statement of 
Financial Position classification of the related debt or equity instruments. 
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1. Summary of Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
(i) Goods and Services Tax 

 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (“GST”), except: 
 
  where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 

an asset or as part of an item of expense; or  
  for receivables and payables, which are recognised inclusive of GST. 

 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 
 
Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis.  The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and 
financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows. 

 
(j) Employee Benefits 

 
Wages, Salaries, Annual Leave and Other Employee Benefits 
 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and other employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months of 
the reporting date, are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to 
be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
 
Long Service Leave  
 
The Group’s net obligation for long service leave is measured as the present value of expected future cash outflows to be made in respect 
of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method.  Consideration is given to expected 
future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service.  Expected future payments are measured using 
discount rates based on the high quality corporate bond rate. Liabilities recognised in respect of long-term employee benefits are 
measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Group in respect of services provided by 
employees up to reporting date. 

 
Cash-Settled Long Term Incentives 

 
For long-term incentives issued in 2014, a liability is calculated for the services acquired (or benefits provided), measured initially at the fair 
value of the liability. At the end of each reporting period until the liability is settled, and at the date of settlement, the fair value of the liability 
is remeasured, with any changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss for the period. The fair value of the long term and deferred 
incentive is expensed over the vesting period. 

 
Equity Settled Long Term and Deferred Incentives 
 
Equity-settled long term and deferred incentives issued from 2015 onwards are share-based payments to employees and others providing 
similar services and are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair value determined at the grant date 
of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of 
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises 
its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised 
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the equity-settled 
employee benefits reserve.  
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1. Summary of Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
(k) Income Tax 

 
Current Tax 
 
Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or tax loss for 
the year. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Current tax 
for current and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or refundable). 

 
Deferred Tax 
 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the comprehensive balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences arising from 
differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in these consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax 
base of those items.  In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available against which deductible temporary differences 
or unused tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the initial recognition of 
assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a business combination) which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit.  
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in associates except where Spark 
Infrastructure is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future. 
 
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with these investments and interests are only recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences 
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year(s) when the asset and liability 
giving rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in 
which Spark Infrastructure expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its 
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 
 
Current and Deferred Tax for the Year 

 
Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in profit and loss, except when it relates to items credited or debited 
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity, or where it arises from the initial accounting for a 
business combination, in which case it is taken into account in the determination of goodwill or excess. 
 
Income tax expense is not brought to account in respect of the Trust, as pursuant to the Australian taxation laws the Trust is not liable for 
income tax provided that its taxable income (including any assessable realised capital gains) is fully distributed to the Securityholders 
each year. 
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1.  Summary of Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
(k) Income Tax (continued) 
 
Tax Consolidation Legislation 

 
Tax consolidated groups have been formed within Spark Infrastructure, whereby wholly-owned Australian resident entities have 
combined together to form a tax consolidated group that will be taxed under Australian taxation law as if it was a single entity. Tax 
expense/income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of members of a tax consolidated 
group are recognised in the separate financial statements of the members of the tax consolidated group using the ‘separate taxpayer 
within group’ approach. Current tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and tax credits of the 
members of the tax consolidated group are recognised by the head entity in the relevant tax consolidated group.  Further details are 
provided in Note 4. 

 
Taxation of Financial Arrangements 

 
The Tax Laws Amendment (Taxation of Financial Arrangements) Act 2009 (“TOFA legislation”) was applicable to the tax consolidated 
groups for tax years beginning 1 January 2011. The TOFA legislation has not had any material effect on the tax expense of the tax 
consolidated groups. No election was made to bring pre-commencement financial arrangements into the TOFA regime.   

   
(l) Investments in Associates 

 
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting.  The associates are entities over which Spark 
Infrastructure has significant influence and that are neither subsidiaries nor joint ventures. 
 
Under the equity method, investments in the associates are carried in the Statement of Financial Position at cost plus post-acquisition 
changes in share of net assets of the associates.  After application of the equity method, Spark Infrastructure determines whether it is 
necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to its net investment in associates.  When necessary, the entire carrying amount 
of the investment is tested for impairment in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its 
recoverable amount (the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount.  Any impairment loss recognised 
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.  Any reversal of impairment loss is recognised in accordance with AASB 136 
Impairment of Assets to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.   
 
Spark Infrastructure’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in profit and loss, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in equity (such as actuarial gains or losses) is recognised in reserves/retained earnings, as appropriate. The 
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment.  Dividends receivable from 
associates are recognised in the individual entity’s profit and loss.  
 

(m) Loans and Receivables 
 
Loans to associates and other receivables are recorded at amortised cost less any impairment. 

 
(n) Revenue Recognition 

 
Distribution and Interest Revenue 

 
Distribution revenue from investments is recognised when the right to receive payment has been established. 
 
Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying 
amount. 

 
(o) Investments in Subsidiaries 
 

Investments in subsidiaries by the Parent Entity are recorded at cost. Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using 
the acquisition method.  
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1.  Summary of Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

(p) Contributions from Customers for Capital Works 

Non-refundable contributions received from customers towards the cost of extending or modifying the network are recognised as revenue 
and an asset respectively once control is gained of the cash contribution or asset and the customer is connected to the network of either 
Victoria Power Networks or SA Power Networks. 
 
Customer contributions of cash and customer contributions of assets are measured at fair value at the date either Victoria Power 
Networks or SA Power Networks gains control of the cash contribution or asset. Fair value is based on the regulatory return expected to 
be derived from the RAB as a result of the specific extension or modification to the network.  

 
(q) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements 
 

The preparation of this financial report required the use of certain critical accounting estimates and exercises judgement in the process of 
applying the accounting policies.  The estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including reasonable expectation of future events.  The Directors believe the estimates and judgements are reasonable.  
Actual results in the future may differ from those reported. 
 
Spark Infrastructure equity accounts the results of its associates (see Note 1(l)) and within these results there are several accounting 
estimates and judgements.  These estimates and judgements will have a direct impact on the results reported by Spark Infrastructure as 
it recognises its share of profits or losses and post-acquisition movements in equity, which adjust the carrying amount of the investments 
in the associates.  The key accounting estimates and judgements used in the preparation of this report are as follows: 
 

 Accounting for Acquisitions 
 

On 15 December 2005, Spark Infrastructure acquired a 49% interest in each of three electricity distribution businesses, being CitiPower 
and Powercor in Victoria (combined businesses referred to as “Victoria Power Networks”) and SA Power Networks in South Australia.  
 
This assessment of fair value for Victoria Power Networks and SA Power Networks by Spark Infrastructure resulted in a notional increase 
in the carrying value of certain depreciable assets and amortisable intangible assets, which are depreciated and amortised over the 
estimated useful life of such assets, extending up to 200 years.  As a result of this, the share of Spark Infrastructure’s equity accounted 
profits has been adjusted by additional depreciation and amortisation arising from this increase in the carrying value. 
 
On 16 December 2015, Spark Infrastructure acquired a 15.01% interest in NSW Electricity Networks Assets Holdings Trust and NSW 
Electricity Networks Operations Holdings Trust (together referred to as “TransGrid”). Spark Infrastructure is required to reflect its equity 
accounted investments in the businesses by reference to its share of the fair value of the net assets of the businesses.   
 

 Impairment of Assets  
 
At each reporting date, Spark Infrastructure tests whether there are any indicators of impairment. Each associate, being Victoria Power 
Networks, SA Power Networks and TransGrid (“investment portfolio”), is regarded as a separate cash generating unit (“CGU”) for the 
purposes of such testing. If any indicators are identified, the recoverable amounts are determined as the higher of fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use.   
 
If such indicators were determined to exist, fair value less costs to sell calculations are used to assess Spark Infrastructure’s investment 
portfolio and to confirm that their carrying values did not exceed their respective recoverable amounts. 
 
The following key assumptions are used in the assessment of fair value less costs to sell: 
 Fair value less costs to sell assessments based on discounted cash flow projections over a period of 10 years; 
 Cash flow projections based on financial forecasts approved by management containing assumptions about business conditions, 

growth in RAB and future regulatory return; 
 Appropriate discount rates specific to each CGU; and 
 Appropriate terminal values based on RAB multiples for regulated activities and EBITDA multiples for unregulated activities that 

reflect recent transmission or distribution transaction multiples. 
 

Cash flow projections for a 10-year period are deemed appropriate as the investment portfolio assets operate within regulated industries 
that reset every five years, and have electricity transmission or distribution assets that are long life assets.  
 
Sensitivity analysis would be undertaken regarding the impact of possible changes in key assumptions.   
 
Fair value less costs to sell is measured using inputs that are unobservable in the market and are therefore deemed to be Level 3 fair 
value measurements in accordance with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement.   
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1.  Summary of Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
(q) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements (continued) 

 

 Impairment of Assets (continued) 

Any significant changes to expectations about levels of distributions from the investment portfolio businesses are considered to be 
potential triggers for impairment. That is because the distributions are an important part of the overall valuation of investments. As 
previously disclosed, short-term distributions from TransGrid might be lower than the levels originally forecast at the time of Spark 
Infrastructure’s initial investment in TransGrid. The expected reduction is primarily caused by increases in forecast unregulated capital 
expenditure, which in turn will see increased revenues in future years.  

Accordingly, Spark Infrastructure calculated fair value less costs-to-sell to assess its investment in TransGrid. The calculation confirmed 
that the carrying value of the investment did not exceed its recoverable value. As a result, no impairment was found. 
 
The Directors are satisfied that neither Victoria Power Networks nor SA Power Networks suffered an impairment loss during 2017. 
 

 Fair Value of Customer Contributions and Gifted Assets at Victoria Power Networks and SA Power Networks 

With effect from 1 January 2014 Spark Infrastructure changed its basis of estimating the fair value of customer contributions and gifted 
assets from depreciated replacement cost to estimating the net present value of the future cashflows expected to be derived from the 
RAB as a result of the specific extension or modification to the network, as described in Note 1(p).  This change better reflects the value 
for customer contributions and gifted assets included in the RAB, on which future regulatory returns are derived.   

 

 Significant Influence over NSW Electricity Networks Assets Holdings Trust and NSW Electricity Networks Operations 
Holdings Trust 

 
Note 6 describes that NSW Electricity Networks Assets Holdings Trust and NSW Electricity Networks Operations Holdings Trust are 
associates of Spark Infrastructure although Spark Infrastructure only has a 15.01% ownership interest.  Spark Infrastructure has 
significant influence over NSW Electricity Networks Assets Holdings Trust and NSW Electricity Networks Operations Holdings Trust by 
virtue of its right under the Shareholders Agreement to appoint one director for every 10% shareholding.  In addition, Spark Infrastructure 
has a special right to appoint a second director while its ownership remains at or above 15.01%.  This right is particular to Spark 
Infrastructure.   

 

 Deferred Tax Arising on the Investment in NSW Electricity Networks Assets Holdings Trust and NSW Electricity Networks 
Operations Holdings Trust  

 
Deferred tax arising on the initial investment in NSW Electricity Networks Assets Holdings Trust and NSW Electricity Networks 
Operations Holdings Trust is considered to relate to temporary differences that give rise to no accounting or taxable profit.  As such, 
deferred tax is not recognised under the initial recognition exemption.  Furthermore, subsequent changes to the unrecognised deferred 
tax are not recorded.     

 

 Deferred Tax Assets 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that there are sufficient taxable amounts available against which 
deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised and they are expected to reverse in the forseeable 
future.  As at 31 December 2017 (2016: nil), there are no amounts unrecognised on the basis that the above criteria was not met.   
 

(r) Rounding of Amounts 
 
As permitted by ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financials/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191, dated 24 March 2016 and in 
accordance with that Corporations Instrument, amounts in the Directors’ Report and the financial report are rounded off to the nearest 
thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated. 
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2. Segment Information 

 
AASB 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group 
that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its 
performance.  Four segments are reported: 

 Victoria Power Networks – the 49% interest in two electricity distribution businesses in Victoria (i.e. CitiPower and Powercor);  

 SA Power Networks – the 49% interest in the electricity distribution business in South Australia;  

 TransGrid – the 15.01% interest in the electricity transmission business in New South Wales (i.e. NSW Electricity Networks Assets 
Holdings Trust (“NSW Electricity Networks Assets”) and NSW Electricity Networks Operations Holdings Trust (“NSW Electricity 
Networks Operations”)); and 

 Other – which represents the divested economic interest in DUET Group. 
 
The segments noted also fairly represent the Group’s geographical segments determined by location within Australia. 
 
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results from continuing operations by reportable segments. 
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2. Segment Information (continued) 
 

 
Victoria Power 

Networks 
SA Power Networks TransGrid Other Total 

 
2017 

$’000 
2016 
$’000 

2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Segment Cash Flows           

Distributions from associates – preferred partnership capital - - 69,635 69,826 - - - - 69,635 69,826 

Distributions from associates – other - - 49,490 49,490 1,441 30,358 - - 50,931 79,848 

Interest received from associates 72,560 79,577 - - 9,444 14,112 - - 82,004 93,689 

Repayment of borrowings by associates(1) 81,790 64,974 - - - - - - 81,790 64,974 

Net cash flows from derivative contracts - - - - - - - 15,209 - 15,209 

Total Segment Cash Flows 154,350 144,551 119,125 119,316 10,885 44,470 - 15,209 284,360 323,546 

Net interest received/(paid)         486 (3,314) 

Corporate expenses         (17,302) (14,608) 

Total Operating Cash Flows(1)         267,544 305,624 

(1) Victoria Power Networks distributions include both interest on and repayment of shareholder loans.  Repayments of loan principal are classified as investing activities for statutory reporting purposes. 
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2. Segment Information (continued) 

 

 Victoria Power 
Networks SA Power Networks 

 
TransGrid Other  Total 

 
2017 
$'000 

2016 
$'000 

2017 
$'000 

2016 
$'000 

2017 
$'000 

2016 
$'000 

2017 
$'000 

2016 
$'000 

2017 
$'000 

2016 
$'000 

Segment Revenue          

Share of equity accounted profits/(loss) 57,593 43,774 150,137 98,171 (7,282) 3,345 - - 200,448 145,290 

Interest income - associates 70,100 78,125 - - 12,590 13,498 - - 82,690 91,623 

Gain on derivative contracts - - - - - - - 5, 772 - 5,772 

Segment revenue 127,693 121,899 150,137 98,171 5,308 16,843 - 5, 772 283,138       242,685 

Interest revenue        1,861 1,230 

Total Revenue        284,999 243,915 

Segment Results          

Segment contribution 127,693 121,899 150,137 98,171 5,308 16,843 - 5, 772 283,138 242,685 

Net interest expense     
 

  (381) (3,324) 

 Corporate expenses     
 

  (12,607) (11,352) 

 Cost associated with investing activities     
 

  (4,346) (2,193) 

Profit for the year before Loan Note interest and income tax 
expense     

 
  

265,804 225,816 

Interest on Loan Notes     
 

  (118,582) (118,582) 

Income tax expense     
 

  (58,581) (26,151) 

Net Profit attributable to Securityholders     

 

  88,641 81,083 
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2. Segment Information (continued) 

 

 Victoria Power 
Networks SA Power Networks 

 
TransGrid Other Total 

2017 
$'000 

2016 
$'000 

2017 
$'000 

2016 
$'000 

2017 
$'000 

2016 
$'000 

2017 
$'000 

2016 
$'000 

2017 
$'000 

2016 
$'000 

Segment Assets  
         

Investments accounted for using the equity method 468,849 420,285 1,626,949 1,606,976 454,544 467,451 - - 2,550,342 2,494,712 

Loans to associates 598,837 680,627 - - - - - - 598,837 680,627 

Loan notes to associates - - - - 237,444 237,444 - - 237,444 237,444 

Receivables from associates 6,052 8,512 - - 3,145 - - - 9,197 8,512 

Total Segment Assets 1,073,738 1,109,424 1,626,949 1,606,976 695,133 704,895 - - 3,395,820 3,421,295 

Unallocated Assets 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 
    

 
  

 
117,289 

 
100,985 

Other current assets        1,891 2,154 

Property, plant and equipment        699 126 

Total Assets        3,515,699 3,524,560 

 Victoria Power 
Networks SA Power Networks 

  

Other Total TransGrid 

 
2017 
$'000 

2016 
$'000 

2017 
$'000 

2016 
$'000 

2017 
$'000 

2016 
$'000 

2017 
$'000 

2016 
$'000 

2017 
$'000 

2016 
$'000 

Unallocated Liabilities     
 

    

Loan Notes attributable to Securityholders        1,061,744 1,061,724 

Other liabilities        63,452 64,385 

Deferred tax liabilities        313,739 261,167 

Total Liabilities     
 

  1,438,935 1,387,276 
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Year Ended 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2016 

$’000 

3. Profit for the Financial Year     

 (a) Income from Associates     

 Equity Accounted Profits:     

 ­ Victoria Power Networks Pty Ltd   57,593 43,774 

 ­ SA Power Networks Partnership   150,137 98,171 

 ­ NSW Electricity Networks Assets(1)   (6,381) (4,404) 

 ­ NSW Electricity Networks Operations(1)   (901) 7,749 

    200,448 145,290 

 Interest Income – Associates:     

 ­ Victoria Power Networks Pty Ltd   70,100 78,125 

 ­ NSW Electricity Networks Operations   12,590 13,498 

    82,690 91,623 

    283,138 236,913 

 (1) Together referred to as TransGrid     

 (b) Interest expense – other:     

 ­ Interest costs and other associated costs of senior debt   2,242 4,554 

    

 (c) General and Administrative Expenses        

 Staff costs – salaries and short term benefits 3,318 2,980 

 Staff costs – post employment benefits 158 161 

 Staff costs – incentives 2,105 2,700 

 Total staff costs 5,581 5,841 

 Directors’ fees – short term benefits 1,090 1,045 

 Directors’ fees – post employment benefits 90 80 

 Depreciation 129 62 

 Project related expenses(1) 4,346 2,193 

 Other expenses 5,717 4,324 

  16,953 13,545 

 

(1) Principally Endeavour Energy related bid costs 
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Year Ended 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2016 

$’000 

4. Income Taxes    

 Current tax   

 Current tax expense in respect of the Current Year 4,263 (241) 

 Adjustments recognised in relation to current tax in prior years(1) (29,539) (104,168) 

  (25,276) (104,409) 

 Deferred tax   

 Deferred tax expense recognised in the Current Year (62,844) (25,910) 

 Adjustments recognised in relation to deferred tax in prior years(1) 29,539 104,168 

  (33,305) 78,258 

    

 Total income tax expense relating to continuing operations (58,581) (26,151) 

      
(1) Amendments to the treatment of customer contributions and gifted assets reported in Spark Infrastructure Holdings No.2 Pty Ltd’s income tax returns. 

 

  

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2016 

$’000 

 

 
(a) Income Tax Recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other   

Comprehensive Income   

 Profit before tax for continuing operations 147,222 107,234 

 Income tax expense calculated at 30% (2016: 30%) (44,167) (32,170) 

 Add/(deduct):   

 Effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit (365) (180) 

 Effect of prior year adjustments in SA Power Networks tax base (5,318) 7,081 

 Tax effect on operating results of the Trusts (8,731) (882) 

 Total Current Year income tax expense (58,581) (26,151) 

 

 
The tax rate of 30% used above is the current Australian corporate tax rate. There was no change in the corporate tax rate during 
the Current Year. 
 

 (b) Income Tax Recognised Directly in Equity   

 Share of associates’ reserves  6,020 (700) 

 Income tax expense 6,020 (700) 

  
 

 

 (c) Deferred Tax Balances  
  

 
Temporary Differences 

  

 
Timing differences - other (1,914) (2,313) 

 
Investment in associates (494,314) (410,881) 

 
 (496,228) (413,194) 

 
Unused tax losses    

 
Tax losses 182,489 152,027 

 
 (313,739) (261,167) 
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4 Income Taxes (continued) 
 
Tax Consolidation 

 
Relevance of Tax Consolidation to Spark Infrastructure: 
 
Spark Infrastructure Holdings No.1 Pty Ltd (“SIH No.1”), Spark Infrastructure Holdings No.2 Pty Ltd (“SIH No.2”), and Spark Infrastructure 
Holdings No.3 Pty Ltd (“SIH No.3”) and their wholly owned entities have each formed a tax consolidated group and therefore each group is 
taxed as a single entity. The head entity within each tax consolidated group is SIH No.1, SIH No.2 and SIH No.3 respectively. The members of 
the tax consolidated groups are identified in Note 20. 
 
Nature of Tax Funding Arrangements and Tax Sharing Agreements 
 
Entities within each tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding arrangement and a tax sharing agreement with their respective 
head entities. Under the terms of the funding agreement, SIH No.1, SIH No.2, and SIH No.3 and each of the entities in the relevant tax 
consolidated group have agreed to pay a tax equivalent payment to or from the head entity, based on the current tax asset of the entity. Such 
amounts are reflected in amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the tax consolidated group. 
 
The tax sharing agreement between members of the tax consolidated group provides for the determination of the allocation of income tax 
liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations. No amounts have been recognised in these 
consolidated financial statements in respect of this agreement as payment of any amounts under the agreement is considered remote at this 
time. 

ATO Matters 
 
The following is a summary of items that are in dispute with the ATO.   
 
Victoria Power Networks Pty Ltd  
 

(a) the recognition of assessable income for assets transferred by customers to entities within the Victoria Power Networks consolidated 
group during the years ended 31 December 2007 to 31 December 2012;  

(b) a denial of deductions for rebates paid to customers by entities within the Victoria Power Networks consolidated group during the 
years ended 31 December 2007 to 31 December 2012; 

(c) a further consequential increase in the allowance of depreciation for the labour costs, motor vehicle running costs and transferred 
assets during the years ended 31 December 2007 to 31 December 2012; 

(d) a denial of deductions for certain labour costs and motor vehicle running costs incurred during the years ended 31 December 2007 to 
31 December 2010 and 

(e) a denial of deductions in respect of certain asset replacement projects during the years ended 31 December 2008 to 31 December 
2010.  

 

In respect of items (a) to (c), in July 2017 Victoria Power Networks has now formally objected to amended assessments issued by the ATO.  

These objections were subsequently disallowed.  On this basis these matters will now be litigated, with a hearing in the Federal Court to be 

scheduled.  As stated above, Victoria Power Networks will continue to vigorously defend its position for all items. 

 

SA Power Networks Partnership 

a) a denial of deductions for direct internal labour and motor vehicle costs incurred by SA Power Networks on self-constructed assets, 
after separate favourable adjustments for asset replacement, on the grounds that they are of a capital nature, and a corresponding 
allowance of tax depreciation deductions for those costs over the effective life of the assets. 

 
As previously reported, both Victoria Power Networks and the SA Power Networks Partnership have obtained legal advice with regard to the 
ongoing matters and will continue to vigorously defend their positions.  The SA Power Networks Partnership partners and Victoria Power 
Networks continue to actively engage with the ATO on these matters. 
 
Details of these tax matters have been previously disclosed in the Spark Infrastructure Financial Statements. 
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  31 Dec 2017 
$’000 

31 Dec 2016 
$’000 

5. Receivables from Associates - Current 
  

 
Victoria Power Networks  6,052 8,512 

 
NSW Electricity Networks Operations 3,145 - 

 
 9,197 8,512 

Receivables from associates relates to interest receivable on loans to Victoria Power Networks and loan notes to NSW Electricity 
Networks Operations per Notes 7 and 8.  These receivables are expected to be settled in full within the next 12 months. 
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6. Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method 
 

 (a) Investments in Associates 

 

Name of Entity Principal Activity 

Ownership Interest (%) 
Country of 
Incorporation/ 
Formation 2017 2016 

  
Victoria Power Networks Pty Ltd 
 

 
Ownership of electricity distribution networks in Victoria 
 

 
49.00 

 
49.00 

 
Australia 

 SA Power Networks  Ownership of an electricity distribution network in South Australia 49.00 49.00 Australia 

 NSW Electricity Networks Assets Holdings Trust(1) Ownership of electricity transmission assets in New South Wales 15.01 15.01 Australia 

 NSW Electricity Networks Operations Holdings Trust(1) Ownership of an electricity transmission business in New South 
Wales 

15.01 15.01 Australia 

  
 

 (b) Summarised Financial Position of Associates (100% basis) 
 

 

 

31 Dec 2017 
$’000 

31 Dec 2017 
$’000 

31 Dec 2017 
$’000 

31 Dec 2017 
$’000 

31 Dec 2016 
$’000 

31 Dec 2016 
$’000 

31 Dec 2016 
$’000 

31 Dec 2016 
$’000 

  

Victoria 
Power 

Networks 
SA Power 
Networks 

NSW Electricity 
Networks  

Assets 

NSW Electricity 
Networks 

Operations  
Victoria Power 

Networks 
SA Power 
Networks 

NSW Electricity 
Networks 

Assets  

NSW Electricity 
Networks 

Operations  

 Current assets 352,302 421,567 138,964 153,661 260,237 382,831 82,783 128,429 

 Non-current assets 7,756,120 6,328,172 7,513,588 2,761,374 7,853,983 6,264,979 7,578,985 2,696,904 

 Total assets 8,108,422 6,749,739 7,652,552 2,915,035 8,114,220 6,647,810 7,661,768 2,825,333 

          

 Current liabilities 1,701,509 721,181 78,934 201,688 1,772,020 868,489 57,306 158,046 

 Non-current liabilities 4,950,784 3,659,212 5,600,364 1,620,354 4,991,418 3,438,674 5,552,205 1,610,624 

 Total liabilities 6,652,293 4,380,393 5,679,298 1,822,042 6,763,438 4,307,163 5,609,511 1,768,670 

          

 Net assets  1,456,129 2,369,346 1,973,254 1,092,993 1,350,782 2,340,647 2,052,257 1,056,663 

 
 

(1) Together referred to as TransGrid. 
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6. Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method (continued) 
 
 (c) Summarised Financial Performance of Associates (100% basis) 

 
  

  

 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2016 

$’000 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2016 

$’000 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2016 

$’000 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2016 

$’000 

  

 

Victoria 
Power 

Networks 
SA Power 
Networks 

NSW 
Electricity 
Networks 

Assets  

NSW 
Electricity 
Networks 

Operations  

Victoria 
Power 

Networks 
SA Power 
Networks 

NSW 
Electricity 
Networks 

Assets  

NSW 
Electricity 
Networks 

Operations  
 

Regulated revenue (including advanced metering) 1,005,825 788,641 - 769,009 1,008,341 739,669 - 796,405 
 

Revenue – semi-regulated and unregulated 206,900 258,693 519,102 90,451 171,887 247,135 510,563 77,220 
 

Customer contributions & gifted assets  - - - - 116,799 79,573 - - 

 
Operating revenue 1,212,725 1,047,334 519,102 859,460 1,297,027 1,066,377 510,563 873,625 

 
Revenue – transmission (pass-through) 301,437 243,445 - - 278,390 251,562 - - 

 
  1,514,162 1,290,779 519,102 859,460 1,575,417 1,317,939 510,563 873,625 

 
Expenses (1,033,340) (825,473) (561,618) (808,098) (1,031,744) (851,028) (535,815) (810,198) 

 
Expenses – transmission (pass-through) (301,437) (243,445) - - (278,390) (251,562) - - 

 
Profit/(loss) before income tax 179,385 221,861 (42,516) 51,362 265,283 215,349 (25,252) 63,427 

 
Income tax expense (56,068) - - - (77,443) - - - 

 Net profit/(loss)  123,317 221,861 (42,516) 51,362 187,840 215,349 (25,252) 63,427 

 
 
 Other comprehensive income:         
 (Loss)/gain on hedges (41,367) (23,148) (36,487) (127) 22,372 (17,246) (8,552) 69 
 Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit plans 15,050 621 - 8,724 (3,146) 8,549 - 18,525 
 Income tax benefit/(expense) related to components of other 

comprehensive income 7,895 - - - (5,768) - - - 

 Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the Financial Year (18,422) (22,527) (36,487) 8,597 13,458 (8,697) (8,552) 18,594 

 Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the Financial Year 104,895 199,334 (79,003) 59,959 201,298 206,652 (33,804) 82,021 
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6. Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method (continued) 

 
 
(c)  Summarised Financial Performance of Associates (continued) 

 Reconciliation of the above summarised financial performance (on a 100% basis) to the net profit/(loss) attributable to Spark 
Infrastructure from SA Power Networks and Victoria Power Networks (on a 49% basis) and NSW Electricity Networks Assets and 
NSW Electricity Networks Operations (on a 15.01% basis), recognised in the financial report:  
 

 
 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2016 

$’000 

    

 Victoria Power Networks net profit 60,426 92,041 

 SA Power Networks net profit  108,712 105,521 

 Additional share of profits from preferred partnership capitala 35,514 35,611 

 NSW Electricity Networks Assets net loss   (6,382) (3,790) 

 NSW Electricity Networks Operations net profit  7,709 9,520 

  205,979 238,903 
 Adjustment in respect of customer contributions and gifted assetsb - (79,053) 

 Adjustment in respect of regulated revenue capc (4,242) (1,770) 

 Additional adjustments to share of equity profitsd (1,289) (12,790) 

 
   200,448 145,290 

 

a Under the partnership agreement, Spark Infrastructure is entitled to an additional share of profit in SA Power Networks, which ensures that Spark Infrastructure 

shares in 49% of the overall results of operations from SA Power Networks. 
b Differences in the measurement of the fair value of customer contributions and gifted assets under AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement (AASB 13).  Spark 

Infrastructure changed its basis of estimating the fair value of customer contributions and gifted assets reported by Victoria Power Networks and SA Power 
Networks with effect from 1 January 2014 from ‘depreciated replacement cost’ to estimating the net present value of the future cashflows expected to be derived 
from the specific extension or modification to the network. From 1 January 2017 both Victoria Power Networks and SA Power Networks adopted this alternative 
approach and Spark Infrastructure no longer makes adjustments to the value of customer contributions and gifted assets for statutory reporting purposes. 
c Adjustments are made to distribution/transmission revenues to defer/accrue for amounts in excess of/under the regulated revenue cap to reflect that these 
amounts will be returned to/recovered from electricity consumers in future periods via adjustments to tariffs.   
d Additional adjustments made to share of equity profits includes additional depreciation/amortisation of fair value uplift of assets on acquisition. 

 

 

  

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2016 

$’000 

 
(d) Movement in Carrying Amounts 

  

 
Carrying amount at beginning of the Current Year 2,494,712 2,495,256 

 
Share of profits after income tax 200,448 145,290 

 
Preferred partnership distribution received – SA Power Networks (69,635) (69,826) 

 
Distributions received – SA Power Networks (49,490) (49,490) 

 
Distributions received – NSW Electricity Networks Assets (1,441) (26,973) 

 
Distributions received – NSW Electricity Networks Operations - (3,385) 

 
Share of associates’ comprehensive (loss)/income recognised directly in equity (24,252) 3,840 

 
Carrying amount at end of the Current Year 2,550,342 2,494,712 

 
   

 
(e) Contingent Liabilities 

  

  
Spark Infrastructure’s share of contingent liabilities are provided in Note 16. 
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31 Dec 2017 

$’000 
31 Dec 2016 

$’000 

7. Loans to Associates – interest bearing   

 
 

Victoria Power Networks 598,837 680,627 

  
100 year loan to Victoria Power Networks at a fixed interest rate of 10.85% per annum.  The loan is repayable at the discretion of the 
borrower.  An amount of $81,790,000 was repaid by the borrower to Spark Infrastructure during 2017 (2016: $64,974,000).  
 

  
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 
31 Dec 2016 

$’000 

8. Loan notes to Associates – interest bearing   

 NSW Electricity Networks Operations 237,444 237,444 

  
Loan notes advanced to NSW Electricity Networks Operations at the applicable bank bill interest rate plus a margin of 3.50% per 
annum.  The loan notes are redeemable at the discretion of the issuer, with a maximum maturity in December 2025.  

 
 

  31 Dec 2017 
$’000 

31 Dec 2016 
$’000 

9. Loan Notes Attributable to Securityholders    

 
Balance at beginning of the Financial Year   1,061,724 1,061,704 

 
Write back of deferred discount a 20 20 

 
Balance at end of the Financial Year 1,061,744 1,061,724 

  
a The deferred discount represents the difference between the Loan Notes face value of $1.25 and the price of securities issued under the Distribution Reinvestment 
Plan in September 2009 of $1.0862.  The deferred discount is written back over the remaining term of the Loan Notes. 
 

 
 

31 Dec 2017 
$’000 

31 Dec 2016 
$’000 

10. Issued Capital 
  

 
Balance at beginning of the Financial Year 1,199,119 1,303,404 

 
Capital distributions a (131,617) (104,285) 

 
Balance at end of the Financial Year 1,067,502 1,199,119 

    
 a    Capital distributions of 4.125 cps on 15 September 2017 (3.75 cps on 15 September 2016) and 3.70 cps on 15 March 2017 (2.45 cps on 15 March 2016) were paid 

to Securityholders during the year – refer Note 15. 

 

 Fully Paid Stapled Securities No.’000 No.’000 

 
Balance at the beginning and end of the Financial Year 1,682,011 1,682,011 
 

 

  

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2016 

$’000 

11. Reserves 
   

 Cash Flow Hedging Reserve    
 

Balance at beginning of the Financial Year (18,231) (17,404) 
 

Share of associates’ losses on hedges a (31,027) (2,050) 
 

Related tax benefit 7,660 233 
 

Recognition of Share-based Payments 687 990 

 
Balance at end of the Financial Year  (40,911) (18,231) 
 

a   The hedging reserve represents hedging gains and losses recognised on the effective portion of the cash flow hedges. The cumulative deferred gain or loss on the 

hedge is recognised in profit or loss when the hedge transaction impacts the profit or loss. 
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  Year Ended 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2016 

$’000 

12. Retained Earnings   

 
Balance at beginning of the Financial Year 956,396 870,355 

 
Net profit after tax for the Financial Year 88,641 81,083 

 
Share of associates’ actuarial gain recognised directly in retained earnings a 6,776 5,891 

 
Related tax expense (1,640) (933) 

 
Balance at end of the Financial Year 1,050,173 956,396 
 

a Actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit superannuation plans operated by the investment portfolio assets are recognised directly in Retained Earnings. 

 
 

  Year Ended 
31 Dec 2017 

$ 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2016 

$ 

13. Remuneration of External Auditor 
 

  

 
Audit and review of the financial reports 261,000 268,500 

 
General tax advice 101,000 226,500 

 
Other accounting services 18,000 - 

 
Project related tax advice and assurance services(1) 299,000 80,000 

 
 679,000 575,000 

 
The auditor of Spark Infrastructure is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. 
 
(1) Principally Endeavour Energy related bid costs 

 

  Year Ended 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2016 

$’000 

14. Earnings per Security (“EPS”)  
 

  

 
Profit before income tax and Loan Note interest 265,804 225,816 

 
Weighted average number of securities (No.‘000)  1,682,011 1,682,011 

 
Basic earnings per security before income tax and Loan Note interest (cents) 15.80¢ 13.43¢ 

  
Earnings used to calculate EPS 88,641 81,083 

 
Basic earnings per security based on net profit attributable to Securityholders (cents) 5.27¢ 4.82¢ 
 

Basic EPS is the same as diluted EPS. 
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  2017  2016 

  Cents 
per 

Security 

 
Total 

 $’000  

Cents  
per 

Security 
Total 

 $’000 
15. Distribution Paid and Payable      
 

Distribution Paid: 
     

 Interim distribution in respect of year ended 31 December 2017 paid on 15 
September 2017 (2016: 15 September 2016): 

 
 

 
   

 
Interest on Loan Notes 3.50 58,870  3.50 58,870 

 
Capital Distribution 4.125 69,383  3.75 63,075 

 
 7.625 128,253  7.25 121,945 

 
Distribution Payable/Proposed: 

  
 

  

 Final distribution in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 payable 
on 15 March 2018 (2016: 15 March 2017): 

  
 

  

 
Interest on Loan Notes  3.55 59,711  3.55 59,711 

 
Capital Distribution 4.075 68,542  3.70 62,234 

 
 7.625 128,253  7.25 121,945 

 Total paid and payable 15.25 256,506  14.50 243,890 

     
 
  

 Year Ended 
31 Dec 2017 

$ 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2016 

$ 

16. Contingencies    

Share of associates’ contingent liabilities 43,150 44,743 

 
The contingent liabilities relate to a number of guarantees provided to various parties by the investment portfolio assets.  There are no 
contingent liabilities or contingent assets in Spark Infrastructure.   
 
 
17. Key Management Personnel (“KMP”) Compensation  
 
The aggregate compensation made to Directors and other members of KMP of Spark Infrastructure is set out below: 
 

  

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2017 

$ 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2016 

$ 

    
 Salary and Fees 2,669,973 2,747,974 
 

Total STI Expense 1,005,429 1,218,273 
 

Non-monetary Expense 47,516 40,308 
 

Superannuation Expense 150,962 144,314 
 

LTI Expense 349,587 674,424 
 

LTI Transition Payment Expense - 377,430 

 
Total Expense  4,223,467 5,202,722 
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18. Related Party Disclosures 
 

(a) Directors 
 

The relevant interest of each Director of Spark Infrastructure for the Current Year is as follows: 
 

2017 Opening Balance 
1 January 2017 

(No.) 

Net Movement 
Acquired/(Disposed)  

(No.) 

Closing Balance 
31 December 2017 

(No.) 

Dr Douglas McTaggart 120,000 15,000 135,000 

Mr Rick Francis  23,942 92,234 116,176 

Mr Andrew Fay  188,590 - 188,590 

Ms Anne McDonald 61,000 10,000 71,000 

Ms Karen Penrose 50,000 - 50,000 

Mr Greg Martin(1) - 50,000 50,000 

Ms Christine McLoughlin(2) 66,766 - - 

Dr Keith Turner(3) 75,706 - - 
(1) Mr Martin was appointed to the Board on 1 January 2017. 
(2) Ms McLoughlin retired from the Board on 15 October 2017. 
(3) Dr Turner retired from the Board on 23 May 2017. 

 
 
The relevant interest of each Director of Spark Infrastructure in respect of 2016 was as follows: 
 

2016 Opening Balance 
1 January 2016 

(No.) 

Net Movement  
Acquired/(Disposed)  

(No.) 

Closing Balance 
31 December 2016 

(No.) 

Dr Douglas McTaggart 50,000 70,000 120,000 

Mr Rick Francis  23,942 - 23,942 

Mr Andrew Fay  68,590 120,000 188,590 

Ms Anne McDonald 61,000 - 61,000 

Ms Christine McLoughlin 51,766 15,000 66,766 

Ms Karen Penrose 38,824 11,176 50,000 

Dr Keith Turner 75,706 - 75,706 

Mr Brian Scullin (1) 77,648 - - 
(1)     Mr Scullin retired from the Board on 20 May 2016. 
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18. Related Party Disclosures (continued) 
 
(b) Group Executives 
 
The table below details the Spark Infrastructure securities in which Group Executives held relevant interests: 
 

2017 Opening Balance 
1 January 2017 

 (No.) 

Net Movement  
Acquired/(Disposed)  

(No.) 

Closing Balance 
31 December 2017 

 (No.) 

Mr Rick Francis  23,942 92,234 116,176 

Mr Nicholas Schiffer(1) - - - 

Ms Alexandra Finley - 28,170 28,170 

Mr Greg Botham(2)  - - - 

 

 
(1) Mr Schiffer was appointed as CFO on 17 July 2017.  
(2) Mr Botham resigned as CFO on 30 April 2017. 

 
 
(c) Responsible Entity 

 
The responsible entity of the Trust is Spark Infrastructure RE Limited.   
 
 (d) KMP 

 
KMP are those having the authority and responsibility for directing and controlling the activities of an entity. The Directors and certain 
employees that meet the definition of KMP are disclosed above along with their remuneration in Note 17. Securityholding details are disclosed 
in Note 18(a) and Note 18(b). 
 
(e) Other Related Parties 
 
Other related parties include associates, subsidiaries, and entities within Spark Infrastructure. 

 
Associates 
 
The details of ownership interests in associates are provided in Note 6. The details of interest receivable and loans provided to associates are 
detailed in Notes 5, 7 and 8. Details of interest income on these loans are detailed in Note 3(a). 
 
Subsidiaries 
 
The details of ownership interest in subsidiaries are provided in Note 20. The terms of the tax sharing and tax funding agreements entered into 
by SIH No.1, SIH No.2 and SIH No.3 with their subsidiaries are provided in Note 4. 
 
Entities within Spark Infrastructure 
 
There are loans receivable by the Trust from other entities within Spark Infrastructure, being Spark Infrastructure (Victoria) Pty Limited, Spark 
Infrastructure (SA) Pty Limited, SIH No.3 and Spark Infrastructure Electricity Operations Trust. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2016 Opening Balance 
1 January 2016 

 (No.) 

Net Movement  
Acquired/(Disposed)  

(No.) 

Closing Balance 
31 December 2016 

 (No.) 

Mr Rick Francis  23,942 - 23,942 

Ms Alexandra Finley - - - 

Mr Greg Botham  - - - 
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19. Subsequent Events 
 
There were no events, other than those described in this report, that have arisen since the end of the Financial Year that have significantly 
affected or may significantly affect the operations of Spark Infrastructure. 
 
20. Controlled Entities  
 

Entity 
Country of 

Incorporation 

2017 
Equity 

Holdings 
(%) 

2016 
Equity  

Holdings  
(%) 

Controlled entities of Spark Infrastructure Trust: 

- Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 1 Pty Limited a 

- Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 2 Pty Limited a 

- Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 3 Pty Limited a 

- Spark Infrastructure Electricity Assets Trust 
 

   
  Australia 

Australia 
Australia 
Australia 

 
100 
100 
100 
100 

 
100 
100 
100 
100 

Controlled entity of SIH No. 1 a: 
 -      Spark Infrastructure (Victoria) Pty Limited b 
 
Controlled entities of SIH No. 2 a: 

- Spark Infrastructure (South Australia) Pty Limited c 

- Spark Infrastructure SA (No 1) Pty Limited c 

- Spark Infrastructure SA (No 2) Pty Limited c 

- Spark Infrastructure SA (No 3) Pty Limited c 
 

Controlled entities of SIH No. 3 a: 

- Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 4 Pty Limited (“SIH No.4”) d 

- Spark Infrastructure Holdings No. 5 Pty Limited (“SIH No. 5”) d 

- Spark Infrastructure RE Ltd d 

- Spark Infrastructure Electricity Assets Pty Ltd d 

- Spark Infrastructure Electricity Operations Trust 

- Spark Infrastructure Electricity Operations Pty Ltd d 
 

 
   Australia 

 
 

  Australia 
Australia 
Australia 
Australia  

 
 

  Australia 
Australia 
Australia 
Australia 
Australia 
Australia 

 
 

 
100 

 
 

100 
100 
100 
100 

 
 

100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 

 

 
100 

 
 

100 
100 
100 
100 

 
 

100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 

 

   a   Head entity of a tax consolidated group. 
   b   An entity within a tax consolidated group with SIH No. 1 as the head entity. 
   c   An entity within a tax consolidated group with SIH No. 2 as the head entity.  
   d   An entity within a tax consolidated group with SIH No. 3 as the head entity. 
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  31 Dec 2017 
$’000 

31 Dec 2016 
$’000 

21. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 
 

  

 (a) Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

  

 
Cash on hand and at bank 24,277 10,974 

 
Cash at bank held for Australian Financial Services Licensing purposes 5,000 5,000 

 
Cash on deposit  88,012 85,011 

 Cash and Cash Equivalents 117,289 100,985 

  

For the purposes of the Statement of Cashflows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks and investments in 
money market instruments. 
 

 
(b) Committed Financing Facilities   

 
Syndicated unsecured bank loan facilities:   

 
- Amount used - - 

 
- Amount unused 250,000 250,000 

 
 250,000 250,000 

  
Committed Finance Facility maturities are: 

  November 2018: $100,000,000 3-year revolving facility with Commonwealth Bank of Australia, maturing within 12 months 

  November 2018: $100,000,000 3-year revolving facility with Westpac Banking Corporation, maturing within 12 months 

  November 2018: $25,000,000 3-year revolving facility with The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd (“BTMU”), maturing within 
12 months 

  November 2020: $25,000,000 5-year revolving facility with BTMU 
 
 

 

 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2016 

$’000 

 (c) Reconciliation of Profit for the Financial Year to Net Cash Inflows  
Related to Operating Activities 

 
Net profit after tax  88,641 81,083 

 
Add back / (subtract):   

 
Loan Note interest expense 118,582 118,582 

 
Non-cash income tax expense 58,581 26,151 

 
Non-cash interest expense 867 10 

 
Non-cash depreciation expense 129 62 

  
Share of equity accounted profits and losses of associates net of distributions 
received (79,882) 4,384 

 
Gain on derivative contracts (less distributions) - 9,437 

 
Changes in net assets and liabilities:   

 
(Increase)/decrease in current receivables (1,225) 4,315 

 
Increase/(decrease) in current payables 61 (3,374) 

 
Net cash inflow related to operating activities 185,754 240,650 
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22. Financial Instruments 
 

 (a) Financial Risk Management Objectives 
 

 Spark Infrastructure’s treasury function manages the financial risks and co-ordinates access to financial markets.  Spark 
Infrastructure does not enter into or trade in financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative 
purposes. The use of financial derivatives is governed by Spark Infrastructure’s treasury policy, approved by the Board, which 
has written principles on the use of financial derivatives. Compliance with policies and exposure limits is reviewed by 
management and Spark Infrastructure’s internal auditors on a regular basis. 

 (b) Capital Risk Management 
 

 Spark Infrastructure manages its capital through the use of a combination of debt and equity to ensure that it will be able to 
operate as a going concern and provide appropriate returns to Securityholders. 
 
The capital structure of Spark Infrastructure comprises net debt (borrowings offset by cash and cash equivalents as detailed in 
Note 21), Loan Notes attributable to the Securityholders and equity.  As the Loan Notes are a long-term instrument and 
subordinated, they are regarded as part of equity capital for these purposes. On this basis the total equity capital of Spark 
Infrastructure as at 31 December 2017 was $3,138,508,000 (2016: $3,199,008,000) comprising $1,061,744,000 (2016: 
$1,061,724,000) in Loan Notes and $2,076,764,000 (2016: $2,137,284,000) in equity attributable to the Securityholders. 
 

 The debt covenants under the bank debt facilities require, inter alia, that the gearing at Spark Infrastructure does not exceed 
30% on a standalone basis and on a consolidated basis (including its proportionate share of debt of the investment portfolio 
assets) and that the gearing does not exceed 75% at any time.  During the Current Year Spark Infrastructure complied with all 
of its debt covenants.  
 
Spark Infrastructure holds less than a 50% interest in the investment portfolio assets and while it has significant influence, does 
not control these businesses and is not in a position to determine their distribution policy alone.  The Distribution Policies are set 
out in Shareholder Agreements between Spark Infrastructure and its fellow shareholders. Any change in the Distribution Policies 
requires a special majority resolution of the shareholders. Further, the revenue of the investment portfolio assets is significantly 
reliant on the regulatory determinations of the AER.  This could in turn impact on distributions received by Spark Infrastructure. 

 
 (c) Significant Accounting Policies 

 
 Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 

measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial 
liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 1. 
 

(d) Categories of Financial Instruments 
 

  31 Dec 2017 
$’000 

31 Dec 2016 
$’000 

 

Financial Assets   

 
Cash and cash equivalents 117,289 100,985 

 
Receivables from associates 9,197 8,512 

 
Loans to associates 598,836 680,627 

 
Loan notes to associates 237,444 237,444 

 

Financial Liabilities   
 

Payables 3,741 4,674 
 

Loan Note interest payable 59,711 59,711 
 

Loan Notes at amortised cost 1,061,744 1,061,724 
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22. Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

 (e)     Financial Market Risk 
 

 The principal financial market risks that Spark Infrastructure is exposed to is interest rate risk. Note 22(f) below discusses the 
strategy adopted to manage the interest rate risk.  
 
Further, the revenue of the investment portfolio is significantly reliant on the regulatory determinations of the AER.  This could in 
turn impact on distributions received by Spark Infrastructure. 

 
 (f) Interest Rate Risk Management 

 
 Spark Infrastructure is exposed to interest rate risk if it borrows funds at floating interest rates. Spark Infrastructure’s treasury 

policy specifies that interest rate risk on long term drawn term debt is managed principally through the use of interest rate swap 
contracts. At 31 December 2017 Spark Infrastructure had no drawn debt facilities or interest rate swaps in place.   
 
Interest Rate Swap Contracts 
 
Under interest rate swap contracts, Spark Infrastructure agrees to exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate 
interest amounts calculated on agreed notional principal amounts. Such contracts enable Spark Infrastructure to mitigate the 
risk of changing interest rates on debt held. The fair values of interest rate swaps are based on market values of equivalent 
instruments at the reporting date.   
 
All interest rate swap contracts on behalf of Spark Infrastructure have previously been entered into by Spark Infrastructure 
(Victoria) Pty Limited, a subsidiary of SIH No. 1, which is the borrower of all unsecured facilities of the Group. 

 
 Interest Rate Risk Sensitivity 

 
Sensitivity analysis is determined based on exposure to interest rates for both derivative and non-derivative financial 
instruments at the end of the reporting period. An impact of a 100 basis points (“bps”) movement is considered reasonable given 
the current level of both short and long term Australian dollar interest rates. 
 
As there was no drawn debt at 31 December 2017 (2016: nil), any movement in interest rates would have no impact on the 
Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2017.   

  
 (g) Credit Risk Management 

 
 Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to Spark 

Infrastructure.  Spark Infrastructure’s credit risk arises from cash held on deposit and previously for derivative financial 
instruments. Spark Infrastructure has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and establishing and 
maintaining limits, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. Spark Infrastructure’s exposure and the 
credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the transactions, where deemed appropriate, are spread 
amongst approved counterparties to minimise risk to any single counterparty.   
 
The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high 
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies. 

 
 (h) Liquidity Risk Management 

 
 Spark Infrastructure manages liquidity by maintaining adequate cash reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing 

facilities, and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows.  Details of undrawn facilities are provided in Note 21. 
 
Liquidity and Interest Risk Tables 
 
The following tables detail Spark Infrastructure’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The 
tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cashflows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which 
Spark Infrastructure can be required to make payment. The tables include undiscounted amounts for both interest and principal 
cashflows. 
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22. Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

(h) Liquidity Risk Management (continued) 
 

 Liquidity and Interest Risk Tables (continued) 
 

 
 
2017 

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest 

rate 
Less than 
1 month 

1-3 
Months 

3 months 
to 1 Year 

1-5 
Years 

5+ 
Years Total 

 % pa $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Payables - 564 2,763 183 196 35 3,741 
 
Commitment fee on interest 
bearing liabilities - 334 - 981 552 - 1,867 
 
Loan Notes attributable to 
Securityholders a 10.85 - 59,711 58,870 474,327 10,935,594 11,528,502 

 
Total        

a The Loan Notes mature in 2105. 

 

 
 
2016 

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate 
Less than 1 

month 
1-3 

Months 
3 months 
to 1 Year 

1-5 
Years 

5+ 
Years Total 

 % pa $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Payables - 673 2,477 298 1,187 39 4,674 
 
Commitment fee on interest 
bearing liabilities - 334 - 981 1,913 - 3,228 
 
Loan Notes attributable to 
Securityholders a 10.85 - 59,711 58,870 474,327 11,054,176 11,647,084 

 
Total  1,007 62,188 60,149 477,427 11,054,215 11,654,986 

a The Loan Notes mature in 2105. 

 
The interest on Loan Notes was fixed at 10.85% per annum on a notional principal balance of $1.25 per Loan Note for an initial 5-
year period ending 30 November 2010. The Restructure in 2010 comprised a partial repayment of the Loan Notes which resulted in 
a reduction in the principal amount outstanding on the Loan Notes of $0.60, from $1.25 to $0.65 per Loan Note.  No change was 
made at that date or the reset date on 30 November 2015 to either the interest rate or the 5-year reset period. For future reset 
periods, any change (if made) to the interest rate must be at least the relevant swap rate plus a margin of 4%. In the above tables, 
the Loan Note interest rate of 10.85% has been assumed for the remaining term of the Loan Notes post 30 November 2020 (the next 
reset date); however the actual rate for each reset period will be subject to finalisation at future points in time.  
 

The amounts for Loan Notes disclosed reflect undiscounted amounts for interest for the remaining term of the Loan Notes plus the 
outstanding principal due in 2105. The outstanding principal as at 31 December 2017 was $0.65 per Loan Note (31 December 2016: 
$0.65 per Loan Note).  The Responsible Entity may defer interest payments, by notice to the Note Trustee and Noteholders.  Interest 
continues to accrue on any outstanding amount.  All outstanding interest must be paid on the next reset date, except to the extent 
that monies are owing by the Group to any bank, financial institution or other entity providing financial accommodation (drawn or 
undrawn, or secured or unsecured) for over $5,000,000. Deferral of interest payments, and non-payment on a reset date in the 
circumstances described above, does not constitute a default. 
 

(i) Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
 

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in these consolidated financial 
statements approximates their fair values.  
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23. Parent Entity financial information 
 

 (a)     Summary financial information 
 

 The following aggregate amounts are disclosed in respect of the Parent Entity, Spark Infrastructure Trust: 

 

Financial Position 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 
31 Dec 2016 

$’000 

Current assets 20,271 124,345 

Non-current assets 2,224,438 2,085,365 

   

Total Assets 2,244,709 2,209,710 

   

Current liabilities 59,760 59,715 

Non-current liabilities 1,074,501 880,618 
   

Total liabilities 1,134,261 940,333 

   

Net Assets 1,110,448 1,269,377 

   

Equity   

Issued capital 1,067,490 1,199,107 

Retained earnings 42,958 70,270 

   

Total Equity 1,110,448 1,269,377 

 

 
 
Financial Performance 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2017 

$’000 

Year Ended 
31 Dec 2016 

$’000 

Net (loss)/profit for the year (27,312) 8,962 

Other comprehensive income - - 

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the Financial Year (27,312) 8,962 

 
(b)     Guarantees entered into by the Parent Entity     

The Parent Entity has provided financial guarantees in respect of Financing Facilities, refer Note 21(b).   

    

(c)    Contingent liabilities of the Parent Entity    

The Parent Entity has no contingent liabilities.  

    

(d)     Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment by the Parent Entity 

As at 31 December 2017, the Parent Entity had no contractual commitments (2016: nil).  
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24. Additional Information 

 
 The registered office of business of the Trust is as follows: 

 
Level 29, 225 George Street 
Sydney NSW 2000  
Australia 
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